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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A 5 i

For the year ended 31 December &%+ —H=4+—HIFF/E

Consolidated Results mE¥EE

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1t-HLEFE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-C& —E-—% —E-TF “E-NF —E-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THET TET TET
Continuing operations HEREER

REVENUE tam 1,617,467 5,504,341 6,766,470 9,767,512 1,873,968
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BEE (518) /%F (1,061,783) 223,798 (351,283) 1,000,740 286,419
INCOME TAX CREDITAEXPENSE) FrEfiike /(%) 150,519 (3,541) (29,629) (532,545) (106,344)

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE RERBECLERNAEE

YEAR FROM CONTINUING (1), &H

OPERATIONS (911,264) 220,257 (380,912) 468,195 180,075
Discontinued operations DRILEREEYR
PROFIT/ALOSS) FOR THE YEAR BB AR S 2781

FROM DISCONTINUED KEEHF/ (BB)

OPERATIONS = 84,452 (409,710) 30,830 (18,238)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A4 [E (B18) /&7 (911,264) 304,709 (790,622) 499,025 161,837
(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE AT ATJE(L (E18) /

T0; et

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY  AZRAFIEA A (787,049) 334,621 (735,144) 385,850 103,138

NON-CONTROLLING FeE

INTERESTS (124,215) (29,912) (55,478) 113,175 58,699
(911,264) 304,709 (790,622) 499,025 161,837

(LOSSYEARNINGS PER SHARE Bk (E18) /&7
FROM CONTINUING AND REBERDIEEEEER (re-presented)  (re-presented)  (re-presented)  (re-presented)

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (&7l) (&) (1m&75) (1z&7)
Basic (cents) EAR () (720.73) 320.62 (807.83) 44153 1414

(Note) (HizE) (Note) (Fif3E) (Note) (FfizE) (Note) (FfizE)
FROM CONTINUING REBBELEER

OPERATIONS
Basic (cents) EOR (L) (720.73) 239.7 (357.61) 406.25 166.42
Note: FIEE -

HE-Z-—% . 222FF . _T-NEFR-Z-)\F
T AT BLEVREEZER(ER) BFELE
Bl URBMAATR S - —FRTNBASZA(EHh SR
RIDE O - BRAHIRKRDIFAE) IEERNRAE  MREAE
HARZZTZ—FLAT-BAEX - FEBFLHERRTAHA
ZECZF=RA+—A 2T ZFWA=Z+H ZT==
FRATZBAR=ZE-__FtA+-HNREURARARH
HAE-ZT-_—_F-A=+HNEK-

The (loss)/earnings per Share for each of the financial year ended 31 December 2021, 2020,
2019 and 2018 were re-presented to reflect the adjustments resulting from the capital
reorganisation implemented by the Company in 2022, which involved share consolidation,
capital reduction and share sub-division, and completed on 12 July 2022. For details, please
refer to the announcements of the Company dated 11 March 2022, 20 April 2022, 13 June
2022 and 12 July 2022 and the circular of the Company dated 30 March 2022.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AR [

For the year ended 31 December &%+ —H=+—HIFF/E

Consolidated Assets and Liabilities

GeEERER

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=1t-HLEFE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E-—F T —T-oTF —Z-NE —T-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTEr TET FET FEr
TOTAL ASSETS BERE 16,684,537 20,150,319 23,666,615 20,175,573 12,636,662
TOTAL LIABILITIES BfEEE (13,491,983)  (15,358,362)  (19,589,259)  (15,527,018) (8,646,900)
3,192,554 4,791,957 4,077,356 4,648,555 3,989,762

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO: AN AT -
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY AR FEAEA 1,675,868 2,953,934 2,282,849 2,907,798 2,760,603

NON-CONTROLLING JE

INTERESTS 1,516,686 1,838,023 1,794,507 1,740,757 1,229,159
3,192,554 4,791,957 4,077,356 4,648,555 3,989,762

Glory Sun Land Group Limited  Annual Report 2022



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the annual report of Glory Sun Land Group
Limited (the "Company”) together with its subsidiaries (collectively
the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”) (the
“Annual Report” or the “Report”).

Industry and Market Overview

In 2022, the People’s Republic of the China (the “PRC” or “China”)
economy was being challenged by multiple unforeseen factors such as
the Covid-19 pandemic (the “Pandemic”) and the Russian-Ukrainian war
crisis. Under the PRC government’s efficient coordination of the Pandemic
control as well as economic and social development, and the accelerated
implementation of various policies to stabilize the macroeconomic
situation, the PRC’s gross domestic product (GDP) for 2022 was
RMB121.02 trillion, representing a growth of 3% year-on-year, which
accomplished the goal of economic and social growth under enduring
pressure. Meanwhile, the “triple pressures” of shrinking demand, supply
shock and weakened expectations faced by economic development
have not been significantly reduced, the endogenous kinetic energy for
economic growth remains lacking, and the economy has yet to show a
good momentum for recovery.

Over the past year, the PRC’s real estate industry experienced a period of
unprecedented intensive adjustment and unstable market expectations
continued throughout the year, with many real estate enterprises
encountering extraordinary challenges in sales, delivery, investment and
debt repayment. The annual sale volume of commercial housing as well
as development and investment scale decreased dramatically, with the
sales area of commercial housing falling to 1.358 billion square metres
and sales dropping to RMB13.5 trillion, the lowest in nearly six years.
The growth rate of real estate development and investment decreased
by 10% year-on-year, the first decline in nearly a decade. Due to the
liquidity pressure and hampered sell-through rate, many real estate
enterprises have shown a sharp decline in sales performance. Meanwhile,
the channel of aggregate financing is narrow, the deterioration of
asset liability structure is serious, debt risk continues to accumulate, the
problem of default has not been substantially resolved, the situation of
project suspension and late delivery is becoming more common, and
number of enterprises are even encountering the difficult situation of
accelerated disposal of properties as well as bankruptcy and dissolution.

EN 2
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BV 8

Although the Central Government has made continuing efforts to
“guarantee the delivery of property and the stability of people’s
livelihood” by issuing a package of financing policies such as “credit
support”, “bond financing support”, “equity financing support” and
“16-Point Plan” at the end of last year, giving positive signals to promote
the healthy and stable development of the real estate industry, and many
cities and places have also timely followed up with corresponding easing
policies to encourage demand. However, the loosening at the policy level
has not yet been fully transmitted to the market level, and the follow-
up effect of its implementation has yet to be realized. In addition, the
imminent financing needs of a large number of private enterprises at risk
are not met, and the upcoming wave of debt repayment makes it miles
away from the goal of resolving the liquidity crisis and getting back on
track.

In 2022, investment and consumption had slowed down in the PRC,
and the cultural sports and entertainment industry was under relatively
huge pressure due to suspension of business under Pandemic prevention
and control measures as well as reduced consumers during holidays. The
output value of the cultural entertainment and leisure service industry
for the year was approximately RMB12 trillion, representing a slight
increase of 0.9% over the previous year. In order to alleviate the pressure
of operation and labour costs, leisure venues such as children playroom,
fitness room and KTV were temporarily suspended. With the arrival of
the post-pandemic era, it will take a longer period of time for the cultural
sports and entertainment industry to improve staff turnover, customer
loss and market shrinkage and return to normalcy.

Last year, under multiple pressures of the impact of the Pandemic,
insufficient demand and rising costs, China’s logistics industry achieved
stable operation as a whole and had steady progress and improvement in
major economic indicators. The total social logistics for the year exceeded
RMB340 trillion, representing an increase of approximately 3.6% year-
on-year. Following the steady progress of various economic stabilization
policies and measures, and the gradual implementation of favourable
policies in this sector, logistics operation is expected to resume a positive
development trend.

Glory Sun Land Group Limited  Annual Report 2022
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Looking back at 2022, the Group maintained its strategic focus and
actively responded to policy adjustments and market changes. The Group
focused on its main business and core cities and organized resources
mainly on core regions and key projects; actively resolved debt risks and
overcame liquidity difficulties by seeking debt refinancing and accelerating
inventory revitalization; strived to improve construction progress to
ensure the quality of property delivery and accelerate the sales and other
receivables collection; proactively improved management efficiency, saved
costs, improved control efficiency and optimized resource allocation, and
made every effort to protect normal operation and production through a
multi-pronged approach.

Business Review
Property investment and development

The Group's property investment and development sector continues to
maintain its development strategy of “deeply exploring the business
of property investment and development in strong first-tier cities, new
first-tier cities and strong second-tier cities”. Currently, the Group has a
total of eight property development projects in six PRC cities, including
Shenzhen, Changchun, Changsha, Weinan, Shantou and Yunfu. With
a gross construction floor area of over 2.80 million square meters, such
projects comprise commercial complexes, high-class residences, hotels,
commercial apartments, villas, garden houses and other multi-format and
segmented products.

Throughout 2022, the combination of factors of downward pressure
on the industry, obstruction of financing channels, the wait-and-see
sentiment of the market and sluggish sales, as well as the delayed
payment collection upon late delivery due to slow construction progress
caused the tight operating cash flow of the Group to remain unimproved,
which further led to increasing challenges in various areas such as external
debt repayment, suppliers’ settlement and the completion of the pre-sale
target.

To resolve liquidity difficulties and alleviate repayment pressure, the Group
proactively conducted debt management, optimized the debt structure,
sought debt refinancing and accelerated the disposal of existing projects.
Through active communication with stakeholders such as creditors,
financial institutions and the government, the Group aimed to develop
a comprehensive solution that respects the rights and interests of all
stakeholders, so as to use its best endeavours to preserve the respective
interests of all stakeholders.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BV 8

To ensure that the delivery targets of the sold projects are met, the Group
withstood capital pressure and made every effort to accelerate the pace of
project construction and sales. Meanwhile, the Company also proactively
evaluated the market environment, timely analyzed and formulated
appropriate marketing strategies in accordance with the specific features
of the projects, and commenced sales of different projects across various
places with on-time delivery, thus realizing the commitment made to
customers. Among them, the Group continued to launch the sales for
Changsha Project, Weinan Project Phase Il, Shantou Chaoyang Project
Phase Ill & IV and Shantou Eastern Coast Project North Zone in line with
the market recovery trend, and hence sales volume and price steadily
increased. In addition, the construction of Changchun Project, Weinan
Project Phase Il, Changsha Project and Shantou Eastern Coast Project are
progressing in a safe and orderly manner, thus making every effort to
meet the delivery schedule.

Cultural sports and entertainment business

Relying on its own proprietary property resources, the Group has
proactively unblocked the industrial chain and has developed an
innovative platform that integrates culture, sports and entertainment.
The Company’s traditional cultural sports business includes Shenzhen
Bihaiwan Golf Practicing Court (“Bihaiwan Golf”), and its cultural
entertainment operation in new business form comprises high-end
children entertainment project Xiao Mu Tong Playroom, high-end
gymnasium project Xin Dong Neng Fitness Club, and KTV TYPET Party.

The frequent recurrence of the Pandemic greatly disturbs the recovery
of the consumer market. Although the first-tier cities where the
Company’s cultural sports projects are located have the advantages of
large population and consumption upgrade, with the gradual depletion
in online traffic monetization, serious brand homogeneity, the surging
costs of acquiring customers in new consumer and existing markets and
the ever-rising rental and labour costs, the overall profitability of the
Company’s cultural sports sector decreased and its profit growth slowed
down in 2022.

Glory Sun Land Group Limited  Annual Report 2022
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In 2022, Bihaiwan Golf has completed the full year leasing of all-inclusive
rooms, with the overall revenue and number of visits of customers being
largely the same as compared to that of last year. The overall revenue of
Xiao Mu Tong Playroom was lower than expected due to the impact of
the anti-pandemic control measures. The Shenzhen Luohu Shop, which
was only officially opened in August 2022, is still in its early stage of
operation and its profitability is not yet stable. The number of visitors for
the Shenzhen Xili Shop dropped significantly during its open period for
the Year, but with the normalization of Pandemic prevention and control,
the customer traffic showed a gradual recovery. Xin Dong Neng Fitness
Club adheres to the “user oriented” principle and focuses its operation
on the improvement and upgrading of services, so as to attract repeat
customers and improve revenue. KTV TYPET Party has increased its brand
awareness and image through increased investment in publicity in hopes
to establish an in-depth experience between the brand and users, the
effect of which is yet to be seen.

Trading of commodities and other operations

Based on the understanding and involvement in various kinds of trade,
the Group leveraged its own strengths and built a large-scale trading
platform for non-ferrous metals, which is mainly engaged in the supply of
non-ferrous metals (which are raw materials for industrial purpose).

In 2022, as a result of a number of global risk events, the non-ferrous
metals industry as a whole faced difficulties in sluggish downstream
demand and disrupted price transmission. Against this backdrop, the
Group fully leveraged its own advantages of business areas, product
structure and resource channels, and improved business flexibility and
turnover rate through differentiated operation, thus stabilizing business
performance.

Meanwhile, the Group also made full use of its platform advantages and
deepened the whole industrial chain cooperation, providing upstream
and downstream customers with services ranging from order taking,
warehousing logistics, transportation logistics, payment and settlement
to risk management, which built up the Group’s brand reputation and
market influences. In the future, the Group will continue to innovate
its business model, actively expand the regional market, and further
complete the in-depth integration of the industrial chain through
cooperation with high-quality strategic partners, so as to realize the
specialization of its business development and facilitate the scale-up in
the growth of the industry.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BV 8

Structural changes

In order to reduce the overall gearing level, alleviate the pressure of
operating funds of the Group and cope with the Group’s business
planning, the Company entered into a framework agreement with Glory
Sun Financial Group Limited (“GSFG") (stock code: 1282, a company
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”)) on 3 October 2022, in respect of the disposal of
the entire equity interest in Shantou Taisheng Technology Limited* (128
MEERHRAR AR (the “Disposal Company”), a non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, on 19
October 2022, the Company procured Shenzhen Hong Jia Xin Technology
Limited* CRIIEEFEIE AR A7) (the “Vendor”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and GSFG procured Shenzhen
Baokai Investment Holding Company Limited* (F3IIE 1% &1L B R
‘A a]) (the “Purchaser”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of GSFG
to enter into the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the
Purchaser conditionally agreed to acquire, and the Vendor conditionally
agreed to sell, the 1st Tranche Sale Equity Interest (representing 51%
of the total equity interest and actual paid-up registered capital of the
Disposal Company). The 1st Tranche Disposal was completed on 22
March 2023. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 3 October 2022, 17 January 2023 and 22 March 2023
and the circular of the Company dated 28 December 2022.

Prospect

The real estate industry has a significant impact in terms of economic
growth, employment, fiscal revenue, residents’ wealth and financial
stability. The focus of the PRC’s Central Economic Work Conference on
the real estate deployment in 2023 centres on “increasing confidence,
preventing risks, and driving transformation”. The main objective is to
fully ensure property deliveries, gradually steer the recovery of the real
estate market, and promote the stable and healthy development of the
real estate market. Under the guidance of such major policy guidelines,
with the prominent nature of housing in people’s livelihood, the volume
and price of the real estate market is gradually returning to normal. The
drawbacks of the development model of “high liabilities, high leverage,
high turnover” over the years will be gradually eliminated, and the real
estate industry will have a smooth transition to the new development
model.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Looking ahead, 2023 will not only be a year for the confidence of the
real estate industry to be restored, but also a year for the industry to
explore new development possibilities. The recovery of macroeconomy,
the rebound of consumer expectations and the increase of investment
are still key factors affecting the recovery of the real estate market.
Considering that the impact of the Pandemic on the economy is gradually
weakening, market uncertainties will be significantly reduced, the effect
of various financing policies will continue to emerge, and the profound
adjustment of the industry may enter its final phase. In the process of
rebuilding confidence in the real estate industry, it has gradually entered
the stage of “ensuring quality delivery” from “guaranteeing delivery”.
It has become an industry consensus to continue in-depth returns to
products and accelerate the enhancement of brand influence. Therefore,
the Group will further strengthen its strategic flexibility and sensitivity,
increase the sell-through on the sales side, speed up the inventory
reduction, and continuously improve the payment collection efficiency. It
will also focus on improving the overall financial position and enhancing
the financial security margin, while responding to the development
trend of new technology and new consumption, and continue to deeply
explore user needs and focus on enhancing product competitiveness,
service and efficiency. Through means of “high-quality delivery” and
“service upgrade”, the Group will restore confidence on consumer side
and facilitate the production and operation to get back on track as soon
as possible.

In response to the upgrade diverse needs driven by consumers, new
experience-oriented business form must constantly shorten the renewal
cycle and develop innovative contents to promote differentiated and
specialized development, thereby enhancing the consumption premium
of entertainment projects and consumers’ spending momentum. These
demand higher requirements for capital investment, innovation and
risk resistance of new cultural entertainment enterprises. In 2023, the
Group’s cultural sports and entertainment sector will continue to pursue
the combination of stable operation and resilience, timely adjust its
business strategy according to market changes, and improve the stability
and sustainability of the overall profitability of the cultural entertainment
segment.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to
the directors of the Company (the “Directors”) and all our employees
for their dedication and contribution to the Group. | would also like to
thank all our partners for their trust, and our shareholders and investors
for their understanding and support of the Group. In the coming year,
the Group will (i) continue to implement our corporate vision of “Building
the Beauty of Life”, assuming more social responsibilities; (i) optimise
the industrial layout, expanding financing channels through project
cooperation, and building a healthy debt structure and capital status, to
ensure the safety and stability of the Company’s operations; and (iii) strive
to create better investment returns for the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”), thus achieving high-quality development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o P i s 5L

Review of Results and Operations

The revenue of the Group mainly arose from two (2) major business
segments, namely (i) property development and property investment in
the PRC, and (ii) trading of commodities.

During the Year, the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$1,617.5 million which was decreased by approximately 70.6%
from that of approximately HK$5,504.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 (the “Prior Year”). The decline in revenue was mainly
attributable to the drop in the trading volume of commodities in the
Year by approximately HK$3,360.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 85.1% as compared to the Prior Year.

In respect of sales of properties, the revenue was approximately HK$968.3
million for the Year which was decreased by approximately 33.1% year-
on-year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the recession of the
PRC property market, and general public being more conservative when
dealing in property market.

In the Year, the cost of sales of the Group was approximately HK$2,142.6
million, which was decreased by 59.1% from approximately HK$5,234.1
million in the Prior Year. Along with the decrease in cost of sales, due
to the uncertainties brought by the outbreak of the Pandemic and
unprecedented challenges faced by the national real estate market in the
Year, the gross loss was approximately HK$525.1 million for the Year,
comparing to gross profit of approximately HK$270.3 million for the
Prior Year, representing a decrease of approximately HK$795.4 million.
The gross loss margin was 32.5% for the Year comparing with the
gross profit margin of 4.9% for the Prior Year. The gross loss was mainly
attributable to written-down in the carrying amount of inventories to the
net realisable value amounting to approximately HK$700.1 million with
respect to Hunan, Weinan and Shantou projects in the real estate and
property investment segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The trading commodities of the Group were mainly copper cathodes
and zinc ingot for the Year and the Prior Year. As a wholesaler of such
non-ferrous metal products, the Group purchased the products in bulk,
and then distributed and sold to the downstream customers. Under
the prevailing business operations, for the sake of obtaining optimal
contractual terms, the Group arranged to conclude and sign supply
framework agreements with respective individual key suppliers with good
reputation and credit in the market. Meanwhile, the profitability was
relatively low and being affected by a bundle of external factors including
the Pandemic and the international non-ferrous metal price fluctuations.
Both buyers and sellers of such non-ferrous metal products had great
demand in the PRC market, the relatively low gross profit margin should
be attributable to the active market participation and the transparent
prices information. As the Group has already built up a team of staff
members with specialized experience and expertise in this business
segment over the past few years, the gross profit margin for the Year
reached a record high of around 0.2% as compared to 0.17% for the
Prior Year though the revenue of the Year had dropped to approximately
HK$587.4 million from approximately HK$3,948.2 million for the Prior
Year.

In the Year, the Group’s selling expenses amounted to approximately
HK$53.1 million (2021: approximately HK$99.6 million) representing an
decrease of approximately 46.7%. In addition, administrative expenses
being approximately HK$119.0 million (2021: approximately HK$141.1
million) was decreased by approximately 15.7% when compared to
the Prior Year and the decrement amounted to approximately HK$22.1
million.

Since the assessed net realisable value of the property inventories had
been lower than its carrying cost amount, the inventory value was
therefore written down by approximately HK$700.1 million (2021
approximately HK$164.0 million) reflecting the recession in the property
market of the PRC.

The real estate portfolio of the Group comprised residential and
commercial properties in Shenyang, Hefei, Shenzhen, Hunan and
Shantou, as well as certain properties under construction in Shantou,
which were held for rental purpose. For the Year, the loss arising from
the net fair value change of these investment properties amounted
to approximately HK$223.0 million (2021: a gain arising from the net
fair value change amounted to approximately HK$70.7 million) was
recognised.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o P i s 5L

Net impairment losses on financial and contract assets dropped to
approximately HK$12.7 million from approximately HK$23.0 million for
the Prior Year, which was primarily due to the decrease in impairment
recognised on the other receivables during the Year.

Finance costs represented mainly interest expenses and other borrowing
costs in relation to bank and other borrowings. During the Year, finance
costs amounted to approximately HK$185.9 million (2021: approximately
HK$125.0 million), representing an increase of approximately 48.7% as
compared to the Prior Year.

Income tax expense, which consisted of the Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT")
and the Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") levied in the PRC as well as their
deferred tax effect, constituted an income tax credit of approximately
HK$150.5 million for the Year while an income tax expense amounted
to approximately HK$3.5 million was recognised in the Prior Year. The
decrease in the income tax expense was mainly attributable to the
temporary differences arising from fair value loss of investment properties
and write-down of inventories.

Given the foregoing factors, the Group recorded a net loss of
approximately HK$911.3 million for the Year, as compared to a net profit
of approximately HK$304.7 million for the Prior Year.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had bank and cash balances of
approximately HK$88.4 million (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$341.4 million), while the pledged and restricted bank deposits
amounted to approximately HK$441.3 million (31 December 2021
approximately HK$381.9 million). Total borrowings of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$6,481.1 million as at 31 December
2022 (31 December 2021: approximately HK$8,067.5 million), of which
equivalents of approximately HK$1,128.0 million (31 December 2021:
approximately HK$1,203.0 million), approximately HK$5,353.1 million (31
December 2021: approximately HK$6,815.4 million) and nil (31 December
2021: approximately HK$49.1 million) were denominated in Hong Kong
dollar, Renminbi and US dollar respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Total borrowings included bank and other borrowings of approximately
HK$5,579.1 million (31 December 2021: approximately HK$7,324.9
million), and corporate bonds of approximately HK$605.0 million (31
December 2021: approximately HK$680.0 million), and notes payable
of approximately HK$297.0 million (31 December 2021: approximately
HK$62.6 million). All of the borrowings bore fixed interest rates and
exposed the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a net current asset of
approximately HK$946.0 million, as compared to the balance of
approximately HK$4,042.1 million as at 31 December 2021. As at 31
December 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately 1.9 (31
December 2021: approximately 1.5), which was calculated on the basis
of the total borrowings less bank and cash balances and pledged and
restricted bank deposits divided by the total equity as at the respective
reporting date.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses. The Directors review the capital structure of the
Group on a timely basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of
new debts.

Disclaimer of Opinion

As disclosed in the “Disclaimer of Opinion” section of the Independent
Auditor’s Report as set out on pages 69 to 73 of the Annual Report,
BDO Limited, the Auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”) does not
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group (the “Disclaimer of Opinion™), because of the significance of the
matters described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of the
Independent Auditor’s Report, the Auditor has not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit
opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o P i s 5L

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

As disclosed in note 2(c) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$911 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, as of that date, as disclosed in note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements, the Group had total borrowings
of approximately HK$6,481 million, of which the current borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$5,568 million, while the Group had bank
and cash balances of approximately HK$88 million only.

As at 31 December 2022, as a result of not making scheduled
repayment of loan principal and/or interest and breach of other loan
covenants during the year, among the current borrowings, the entire
principal amounts of approximately HK$3,295 million in aggregate
which comprised bank borrowings of approximately HK$1,567 million
(the”FY2022 Defaulted Bank Borrowings”), other borrowings of
approximately HK$9 million, corporate bonds of approximately HK$605
million and loans from related parties of approximately HK$1,114 million,
together with interest payables of approximately HK$326 million became
due and repayable on demand.

In particular, due to not making scheduled repayment of interest and
breach of other loan covenants during the year, a non-current bank
borrowing of approximately HK$1,317 million was reclassified as the
current liabilities which was included in the FY2022 Defaulted Bank
Borrowings.

Subsequent to 31 December 2022, the Group has received repayment
notices from the banks to demand for repayment of total outstanding
principal amounts of approximately HK$1,567 million of the FY2022
Defaulted Bank Borrowings, together with the interest payables.

In addition, due to not making scheduled repayment of loan principal
and/or interest subsequent to 31 December 2022, the entire principal
amounts of approximately HK$604 million in aggregate including bank
borrowings of approximately HK$384 million (the “FY2023 Defaulted
Bank Borrowings”) and other borrowings of approximately HK$220
million, together with interest payables of approximately HK$83
million became due and repayable on demand subsequent to the end
of the reporting period. In particular, among the FY2023 Defaulted
Bank Borrowings, a bank borrowing with the entire principal amount
of approximately HK$318 million, of which approximately HK$66
million and approximately HK$252 million were classified as current
borrowing portion and non-current borrowing portion, respectively as
at 31 December 2022, has subsequently become due and repayable on
demand as a result of not making scheduled repayment of loan principal
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The above conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and, therefore, that the Group may not be able to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

In view of the above circumstances, the Directors have prepared a cash
flow forecast (the “Cash Flow Forecast”) which took into account of the
plans and measures as set out in note 2(c) to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

Details of the Disclaimer of Opinion and the relevant plans and measures
proposed by the Directors are disclosed in the Independent Auditor’s
Report set out on pages 69 to 73 of the Annual Report.

Additional Information in relation to the
Disclaimer of Opinion

(i) Impact of the Disclaimer of Opinion on the
Group’s financial position

As set out in note 2(c) to the consolidated financial statements,
should the Group fail to achieve the proposed actions plan and
measures with respect to the Cash Flow Forecast, it might not be
able to continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values of the
Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in the prevailing consolidated financial statements.
The Disclaimer of Opinion only relates to the going concern of
the Group as a whole, and not to a specific item or issue of the
Group's financial position at the abovementioned reporting end
date. Furthermore, apart from the written notices issued by the PRC
lending banks in relation to the loans default by the subsidiaries
of the Company as already disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 6 and 17 March 2023 respectively, there has been
no other subsequent events which may impose any significant
impact on the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2022 to
the date of the Annual Report.
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(i) the Management’s position and basis on the

going concern assumption, and its view on the
Disclaimer of Opinion

The management of the Company (the “Management”)
understands that the Disclaimer of Opinion is a result of scope
limitation relating to the appropriateness of the going concern
assumption as the Auditor could not obtain the information
considered necessary for Auditor’s evaluation of the financial
viability of the fund providers to provide sufficient funds to the
extent that is necessary based on the Cash Flow Forecast due to
unavailability of the information of the fund providers highlighted
in the Disclaimer of Opinion.

As regards the further drawdown of unutilised loan facilities
(the “Unutilised Facilities”) from fund providers, the Directors
are confident that the Unutilised Facilities will provide adequate
financing funding to the Group, as and when necessary. This
assumption has been well supported by the long and close
relationship between the Company and the respective fund
providers, and also the solid track record of facilities utilization in
the past. However, there is no documentary evidence for evaluating
the financial viability of those fund providers of the Unutilised
Facilities to the extent that is necessary based on the Cash Flow
Forecast. As such, no documentary or other sufficient information
was provided to the Auditor in regard to the measures for assessing
the successful implementation of this action plan.

On the assumption of the successful implementation of the
proposed actions plan and measures as scheduled, the Directors
are of the opinion that the Group is able to continue as a going
concern and shall have sufficient financial resources to finance
the Group’s operations and meet its financial obligations as and
when they fall due. Accordingly, it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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(iii)

(iv)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Audit Committee’s view on the Disclaimer of
Opinion

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has
critically reviewed the detailed basis and grounds of the Disclaimer
of Opinion as addressed by the Auditor, the Management's
assessment and also the proposed actions plan and measures to be
undertaken by the Management for addressing the Disclaimer of
Opinion at the Audit Committee meeting. The Audit Committee
has also had discussions with the Auditor, after which the Audit
Committee has comprehended that the cause of the Disclaimer of
Opinion is, as mentioned in the note (ii) above, the unsuccessful
capture of sufficient supportable evidence to support on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In the light of the
above, the Audit Committee has agreed with the Management's
view concerning the Disclaimer of Opinion and has acknowledged
the proposed actions plan and measures taken and to be taken by
the Group to address the liquidity matter. The Audit Committee is
also of the view that the Management shall continue its efforts in
the implementation of the proposed actions plan and measures to
mitigate the Group’s liquidity pressure. Furthermore, the chairman
of the Audit Committee meeting has reported the case in an
extensive manner to all the participating board members at the
subsequent meeting of the board of Directors (the “Board”). Both
the Audit Committee and the Board have agreed that the Group
should adhere strictly of the proposed actions plan and measures for
addressing the effect on the Disclaimer of Opinion with the ultimate
aim to remove the Disclaimer of Opinion in the forthcoming audited
financial statements.

Details of the Actions plan to address the
Disclaimer of Opinion and its Latest Development

The Disclaimer of Opinion as mentioned in the FY2021 annual
report had addressed to the following proposed actions plan and
measures to be undertaken by the Group:

(i)  The negotiation with fund providers for the extension in
respect of certain borrowings which are repayable during
the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Renewable
Borrowings”)

Throughout the underlying period of the Cash Flow Forecast
for the FY2021 annual report, the Group has succeeded in
entering into extension arrangement with a total number
of three fund providers and has obtained the Renewable
Borrowings amounting to approximately HK$1,091.7 million
in aggregate.

(iii)

(iv)

o PR s 520 M

ERZEEHTRRERNERH

rpRlzERZBE((EREZRE))
EERBHZBMATERERLIRELN
HEEREES - BEEEBNRE UK
EEERNBEVZESERTRENHE
REAMEZRONITE DR MR -
ERZE M EEZBEMETIWmRE
& AERERREM BTG
At REERER T RA NIRE A
AEBAFELENEEN < ER LR
it BRLZERREEEEHIRERE
RBH  THNEARERBERRDE
T FE MR Z R TTE AT 8 A
EREEQNRAA BEEEREES
BHFIRENTE I RLER - ARE
AEBHRBESESN - WH BRE
BEE@edTRONBRAMANESS
([EFg) ez LtA2BHeESTIK
BEREERN BERZEERERS
BRE  AREEBREESTAIEZENTT
B RIER  WERHIERERD
R EEREIS TN EEZY
BHRERTPHEIHRER -

By 48R
rE

EHARRBERNTHSRFR
RERHER

—E - -MFFRPRINTERER
BRAEBATRERBOITHIERR
LR

() HERBE-_T-_—_F+=A
=t BLEFEEENETHER
((TERER) BESRHERER
FERH

—E-UFEFHNRERETRE
BlR R ERREEM - AEBE KD
HER=—FECRBEERTERL
B WEESAEHEN1,001.788
IR A BEER o

BNEMREBARAT 2022 FH

21



22

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
7 SHL ) i B0

(ii)

(iii)

The further drawdown of unutilised loan facilities in the year
2021 (the “Unutilised Facilities 2021") from fund providers.

The Management has managed to drawdown further
Unutilised Facilities 2021 with principal amount of
approximately HK$1,434.6 million in aggregate from those
fund providers during the whole year of 2022.

The acceleration of pre-sales of major property development
projects during the period of the cash flow forecast

The Group’s property investment and development segment
continues to consistently maintain its development strategy
of “deeply exploring the business of property investment and
development in strong first-tier cities, new first-tier cities and
strong second-tier cities”. In 2022, the Group had a total of
eight property development projects in six PRC cities, including
Shenzhen, Changchun, Changsha, Weinan, Shantou and
Yunfu. These projects comprised commercial complexes, high-
class residences, hotels, commercial apartments, villas, garden
houses and other multi-format and segmented products.

As mentioned in the Annual Report, the combination of
factors of downward pressure on the industry, obstruction of
financing channels, the wait-and-see sentiment of the market
and sluggish sales, as well as the delayed payment collection
upon late delivery due to slow construction progress caused
the tight operating cash flow of the Group to remain
unimproved and the unsuccessful completion of the pre-
sale target. Therefore, the Group finally accomplished a cash
inflow of approximately HK$1,237.6 million from the pre-sale
of inventory properties.

In order to address the uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and with a
view to the Disclaimer of Opinion, the Group has already taken and
will continue to implement the following proposed actions plan and
measures to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to improve its cash
flows. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has Unutilised Facilities
of approximately HK$3,186 million whilst subsequent to 31
December 2022 to the date of the Annual Report, the Group has
further obtained the facilities of approximately HK$2,222 million.
Further, subsequent to 31 December 2022, the Group has drawn
down approximately HK$84 million. In this respect, the Directors
are confident that such Unutilised Facilities can provide adequate
funding to the Group, as and when necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Removal of the Disclaimer of Opinion

The Company’s view on the removal of the Disclaimer of Opinion
in the next financial year (i.e. for the year ending 31 December
2023)

The Board will take into consideration the Disclaimer of Opinion when
preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2023. Meanwhile, the Board will be absolutely
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern based on the actual conditions and circumstances by 31
December 2023.

Assuming that (a) the proposed action plan and measure as mentioned
in the above note (iv) can be implemented as stipulated; (b) there is no
other material adverse changes to the business, operation and financial
conditions of the Group; and (c) sufficient supporting evidence for
validating the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern can be
provided to the Auditor to its satisfaction, the Company is confident that
the Auditor will be able to remove the Disclaimer of Opinion by the time
of issuing the audit opinion for the Company’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 31 December 2023. The Company will
therefore work closely with the Auditor with the view to making timely
reporting of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ending 31 December 2023 in accordance with the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

The Auditor’s Preliminary View

As the Management's assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern for the purpose of preparing the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2023 has to take
into consideration of the then conditions and circumstances and could
only be made by the end of the relevant reporting period, the Auditor is
unable to ascertain at this moment whether the Disclaimer of Opinion
can be removed in the next financial year purely based on the latest
actions plan. Further assessment of the going concern basis in relation to
the Group’s liquidity situation for removing the Disclaimer of Opinion for
the year ending 31 December 2023 shall be required.

Capital Expenditure
The total spending on the additions of property, plant and equipment and

investment properties amounted to approximately HK$90.1 million for
the Year (2021: approximately HK$433.4 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Charges of Assets

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of property, plant
and equipment, inventories and investment properties amounted to
approximately HK$4.4 million (2021: approximately HK$5.1 million),
approximately HK$5,708.1 million (2021: approximately HK$7,564.2
million) and approximately HK$2,260.0 million (2021: approximately
HK$1,892.8 million) respectively were pledged as security for the Group’s
bank loans and other borrowings granted in relation to the Group's
real estate business. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount
of investment properties and properties held for sale amounting to
approximately HK$39.2 million (2021: approximately HK$47.0 million)
and approximately HK$28.9 million (2021: approximately HK$32.1
million) respectively were pledged as security for a bank borrowing in
favour of a former subsidiary which was overdue. The Group’s pledged
and restricted bank deposits amounting to approximately HK$441.3
million (2021: approximately HK$381.9 million) were pledged to banks to
secure a bank loan granted to an independent third party, notes payable
granted to the Group and guarantee deposits for construction of pre-sale
properties.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

The Group had 361 employees as at 31 December 2022 (31 December
2021: 413) in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group reviews remuneration
and benefits of its employees annually according to the relevant market
practice and individual performance of the employees. Save for the social
security insurance in the PRC and the mandatory provident fund scheme
in Hong Kong, the Group has not set aside or accrued any significant
funds to provide for retirement or similar benefits for its employees.

Foreign Exchange and Currency Risks

Most of the Group’s revenue and expenses were generated from the
PRC and were denominated in Renminbi. During the Year, the Group
had not hedged its foreign exchange risk because the exposure was
considered insignificant. Our management will continue to monitor the
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging the foreign currency
exposure when it is necessary.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s commitment was approximately
HK$7,264.6 million (2021: approximately HK$7,849.1 million) in
respect of contracted but not provided for expenditures on properties
under development, investment properties under construction and the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment.

Significant Investment, Material Acquisitions or
Disposals of Subsidiaries and Affiliated Companies

Save for those disclosed in the Annual Report, there was no other
significant investments held as at 31 December 2022 nor other material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries or affiliated companies made by
the Group during the Year.

Share Options
2014 Share Option Scheme was adopted on 26 March 2014. As at 31

December 2022, the number of shares in respect of which options had
been granted and remained outstanding was nil (2021: nil).

Final Dividend

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).
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DIRECTORS AND KEY PERSONNEL PROFILES
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Directors

Yao Jianhui
Chairman & Executive Director

Mr. Yao Jianhui (“Mr. Yao"”), aged 51, has joined the Company as the
executive Director and the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”)
since 20 December 2018. He graduated from South China University
of Technology in the PRC with a postgraduate diploma in business
administration.

Mr. Yao has acted as the executive director, chairman and chief executive
officer of GSFG since August 2015.

From March 2002 to March 2003, Mr. Yao acted as the executive
vice president of RN E IR E &£ B HAR 2 F] (Shenzhen Baoneng
Investment Group Co., Ltd.*). From July 2010 to October 2014, Mr. Yao
acted as the general manager and chairman of the board of directors of
B ERMDER AT (Baocheng Investment Co., Ltd.*) (stock code:
600892, a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange) (currently known
as KERRUEEE KD BRRZAF (Dasheng Times Cultural Investment
Co., Ltd.,*)). From June 2006 to January 2019, he was the chairman of
the board of directors of BEae#ZEik (F1 ) BBR 2 F] (Baoneng Holding
(China) Co., Ltd.*).

Xia Lingjie
Executive Director & Chief Executive Director

Ms. Xia Lingjie (“Ms. Xia”), aged 35, joined the Company as the non-
executive Director on 1 April 2016 and she was re-designated as the
executive Director on 17 August 2016. On 27 March 2019, she was
appointed again as the executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company (the “CEQ"). Ms. Xia also holds directorship in certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Xia received a bachelor’s degree in broadcasting, television and
news from Wuhan University and a bachelor’s degree in psychology from
Central China Normal University. She graduated from Wuhan University
with a master’s degree in communication in 2011 and earned a master’s
degree in Global Journalism from University of Sheffield, UK in 2012.
She was the assistant to general manager and deputy general manager
of FIIBEFEEER A (Shenzhen Wangdian Media Co., Ltd.*) from
January 2014 to June 2016. From 2013 to 2014, she was the director of
business operation of RIIEI B L EEFR A F] (Shenzhen Guosheng
Culture and Media Co., Ltd.*).
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DIRECTORS AND KEY PERSONNEL PROFILES

Ms. Xia is a veteran in business financial management, merger and
acquisition management, capital management, and operational
management cultural media, especially experienced in the execution
of corporate strategies formulation and financial analysis, and the
management in human resources and company operations, investors’
relationship management and capital management.

Zhan Yushan
Non-executive Director

Ms. Zhan Yushan (“Ms. Zhan"), aged 44, was appointed as the non-
executive Director on 26 October 2018. She graduated from 7 & E &
EIRKE (Central Television Broadcasting University of China*) in 2009
with a bachelor’s degree in law.

Ms. Zhan has been further appointed as the chief legal officer of the
Company (the “Chief Legal Officer”) since 20 December 2018. Ms.
Zhan has acted as the deputy general manager in J&IITEFREI AR
‘A 7] (Shenzhen Feng Cheng Technology Company Limited*) since July
2016. She has also been the president of /&Y E B ERM AR AR
(Shenzhen Lan Si Guang Technology Company Limited*) since December
2014. She served as the secretary to the president in general manager
office of FIITT R MFZIER AR QA (Shenzhen Nanyou Development
Construction Limited*) from December 2004 to December 2013.

He Suying
Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. He Suying (“Ms. He"), aged 57, was appointed as the independent
non-executive Director on 30 May 2016. She obtained a bachelor’s degree
in economics from Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics, majoring
in infrastructure finance and credit, and a master's degree in economics
from the investment and economics department of Dongbei University
of Finance and Economics, majoring in investment and economical
management. She possesses extensive experience in areas including
internal audit, corporate financial analysis, management, investment
decision-making and business combination.
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DIRECTORS AND KEY PERSONNEL PROFILES

EFLEREANBMHA

Ms. He has over ten years of experience in corporate internal audit.
Since May 2006, Ms. He has been working in ZIITHEBEEEEE
BRR72 7] (Shenzhen Capall Asset Management Co., Ltd.*) as the
executive director. From April 2015 to March 2021, she served as the
independent director of RIITELFEE K (DB R QA (Shenzhen
Salubris Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.*). From January 2010 to July 2017, she
served as the independent director of KRR LI E R BIRAF]
(Dasheng Times Cultural Investment Co. Ltd.*). From 2011 to 2017, she
was the independent director of BEER 18 B £7#Hi% {5 F R A 7] (Guangdong
Evergreen Feed Industry Co., Ltd.*) and EEZAEEHIRMDBER A F)
(Leadshine Technology Co., Ltd.*) in Shenzhen. From September 2007 to
September 2013, she was the independent director of X R FxEBINE
RAF] (MYS Group Co., Ltd.*). From August 2003 to December 2008,
she served as the director of F®IITHERERERNDER AR (Shenzhen
Seg. Dasheng Co., Ltd.*) (now renamed as )& 2 FIH B R A F]
(Shenzhen Quanxinhao Co., Ltd.*)).

Ms. He had previously served as the supervisor and the officer-in-charge
of the auditing department of Weishen Securities Co., Ltd., a section
chief of the auditing department of Shenzhen Branch, Guangdong
Development Bank and the lecturer of the investment and finance
department of Jiangxi University of Finance and Economics.

Tang Lai Wah
Independent Non-executive Director

Dr. Tang Lai Wah (“Dr. Tang”), aged 65, was appointed as the
independent non-executive Director on 30 May 2016. She is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA")
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
a member of the Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association. Dr. Tang holds a degree of Bachelor of Arts with honors in
Accountancy, degree of Master of Business Administration (Executive) and
degree of Doctor of Business Administration from the City University of
Hong Kong.

Dr. Tang has over 30 years of accounting, corporate finance and financial
management experience in telecommunication, media and information
technology industries. Dr. Tang was the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Excel Technology International (Hong Kong) Limited
during the period from 2002 to 2022. She was also the group financial
controller in several companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Dr. Tang has extensive experience in the merger and acquisition
activities, the initial public offerings on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, overseeing corporate governance and monitoring corporate
compliance of the Listing Rules and regulations.
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DIRECTORS AND KEY PERSONNEL PROFILES

Dr. Tang is the vice president of Hong Kong Business Accountants
Association. She is currently appointed as a committee member of the
departmental advisory committee for the Department of Accountancy
by the City University of Hong Kong. Previously, Dr. Tang had been
appointed as a specialist and financial expert by the Hong Kong Council
for Accreditation of Academic and Vocational Qualifications, and had
been elected as committee member of ACCA Hong Kong.

Wong Chun Bong
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Chun Bong (“Mr. Wong”), aged 64, joined the Company as
the independent non-executive Director on 20 December 2018. He holds
a higher diploma in Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic,
currently known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Wong has been the independent non-executive director of GSFG
since November 2009. Since May 2017, he has also acted as the
independent non-executive director of Guangzhou R&F Properties Co.,
Ltd (Stock Code: 2777), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Wong is the founder of a firm of certified public accountants in Hong
Kong. He is also a member of the Council of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
and a fellow member of each of the ACCA, the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Wong was
an ex-member of the Court of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
the ex-chairman of the executive committee of the ACCA Hong Kong.

Key Personnel

Fong Ching Kong
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary

Mr. Fong Ching Kong (“Mr. Fong”), aged 57, has been appointed as
the Chief Financial Officer and company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) since 20 January 2017. Mr. Fong holds a Master
degree of Business Administration. He is an associate member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of each of ACCA, the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute, the
Chartered Governance Institute, and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
Mr. Fong has over 30 years of experience in professional accounting,
financial management, tax, and company secretary. Prior to joining the
Company, he served as the financial controller, company secretary and
authorised representative of a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting the Annual Report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 23
to the consolidated financial statements. Details and respective analysis
of the main business segments of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Results and Appropriation

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 74 to 75.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Closure of Registers of Members

For the purpose of determining the Shareholders who are entitled to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on 2 June 2023 (the “2023 Annual General Meeting”), the register
of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 30 May 2023
to Friday, 2 June 2023, both days inclusive. During this period, no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at
the 2023 Annual General Meeting, all transfers of shares accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 29 May 2023.

Business Review

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and a discussion on
the Group’s future business development, possible risks and uncertainties
that the Group may be facing are provided in the Chairman’s Statement
on pages 7 to 13 and Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 14
to 25 of the Report.
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The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
shown in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of
the Group's performance during the Year using key financial performance
indicators is provided on pages 14 to 16 of the Report.

Discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
relationships with its key stakeholders and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are
provided in the 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance Report
("2022 ESG Report") published on 28 April 2023, which is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Company is committed to improving environmental sustainability and
will closely monitor the performance. In accordance with Rule 13.91 of
and Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, details of environmental policies
and performance of the Company are set out in the “2022 ESG Report”.
We have complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide in Appendix 27
to the Listing Rules.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

For the businesses and industries in which the Group operates, the most
important laws and regulations in the PRC include (but not limited to)
laws related to the establishment of real estate development enterprises,
acquisition of land use rights, property development, commercial housing
sales or pre-sales, and environmental protection. During the Year, the
Group has complied with all the relevant and applicable PRC laws
and regulations governing the business of property development and
management in all material respects, and we have obtained all material
licenses, permits and certificates for the purpose of operating our
business. For the Year, the Group has no non-compliance incident that
has had a material adverse effect on the Company.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the Group’s property, plant and equipment
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Summary Financial Information

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of the Report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

HHGFHE

AEBENMBREREE B BREBERENGA M
BI|KMT6 - ERBARPVBEEBIERHAE
EAFEARRETONNENAREF 14X
168 °

BEAEBERIRBEGR KRS - BEFEFzm
BEENBERARETEBERRERNBR
(EHAEEELASEAZE)NIREN T
TEFAZ T NBRBEHZ T FIRE
HEREARE(ZTE2FRE -8 ke
AME)  ZMEURARE MR E
F)Lao

BRRBRREKRE

ARABARARRAIFEE YT IE
RIRRRE - RIFELETRAE13.91 15K
Tt ARFENREREREEFBARN
[T —FRE - dekBRHmE] - RS
By EmRAME -+ HCGRE e kEA
WEESDAEZ [ TETIEE] 53 -

MEERER BT

BEARNAREEENEGRITENGERTH
EEERBE(ETRR) BHERELENR
Mo DHERENRE  MERE  BnEHE
ERFEEUSLIRREOVERE - RAFE - KNEME
EEREATEETHAERENERAERER
XA ERTEIERER - LEEEH
BEZYR  SFAELES  UEEHMANE
%o AEE - AEEAEEIFATIAREMHSAK
RAELEEATNTE -

¥ - BMERRE

AEEVE BEAREREZ2-_ZT==
+ A=+ —HIFENEEFFTHNGZEM
FEMFMIFTE20 ©

B ERSE
AEEBTFRAETHFENEAEEENEE
HEEMEBEHNARELESH - ARSI TE
IS TAIZER B SRR — 20D -

BNEMREEARAT 2022FF

31



32

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
R

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 78 and notes 34(b) and 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, as at 31 December
2022, the contributed surplus and share premium accounts are
distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately following the
date on which any dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s distributable reserves
amounted to approximately HK$1,780,667,000.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy”), pursuant
to which the Board may recommend dividends to the Shareholders, to
allow the Shareholders to participate in the sharing of the Company’s
profits and the Company to retain adequate reserves for its future
growth.

The recommendation of the payment of any dividend is subject to the
absolute discretion of the Board, and any declaration of final dividend will
be subject to the approval of the Shareholders. In proposing any dividend
payout, the Board shall take into account factors in all aspects including,
the Company’s current and future operations, liquidity position and
capital requirements, as well as dividends received from the Company’s
subsidiaries and associates, which in turn will depend on the ability of
those subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend. The payment of
dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the law of Cayman
Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/
or cancel the Dividend Policy at any time, and Dividend Policy shall in no
way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company in respect
of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a
dividend at any time or from time to time.
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Donation

During the Year, the Group made no charitable and other donations (2021:
approximately HK$542,000).

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 51.5% of the total sales for the Year and sales to the
largest customer included therein amounted to approximately 21.9%.
The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 27.1%
of the total cost of services and among which approximately 21.7% is
attributable to the largest supplier for the Year.

To the best of the Director’s knowledge, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates or any Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of
the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers during
the Year.

Relations with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group recognises that the employees, customers and suppliers are
keys to corporate sustainability and are keen on developing long-term
relationship with stakeholders.

The Company understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers. The Group has established procedures in
place for handling customers’ complaints and customers’ satisfaction
surveys in order to ensure that customers’ complaints are dealt with in a
prompt and timely manner. The Group is also dedicated to develop good
relationship with suppliers as long-term business partners to ensure stable
supplies and timely delivery of materials. The Group reinforces business
partnership with suppliers and contractors by recurring communication in
proactive and effective manner so as to ensure quality and delivery.
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Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of the Report are:
Executive Directors

Mr. Yao Jianhui
Ms. Xia Lingjie

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Zhan Yushan
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. He Suying
Dr. Tang Lai Wah
Mr. Wong Chun Bong

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Ms. He
Suying and Dr. Tang Lai Wah will retire from office by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2023 Annual General
Meeting.

Independent Non-Executive Directors’
Confirmation

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and as at the date of the Annual Report still considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

All of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director have
respectively entered into service contracts with the Company. Details of
the service contracts include: (i) a term of directorship for three years with
effect from the date of appointment, reappointment or re-election; and
(ii) the contract shall be terminated according to the terms of each
respective contract.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of
appointment with the Company. Details of the letter of appointments
mainly include: (i) a term of directorship for three years with effect from
the date of appointment, reappointment or re-election; and (ii) the letter
of appointment shall be terminated according to the terms of each letter
of appointment.

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors proposed for re-election
at the 2023 Annual General Meeting had a service contract with the
Company which was not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director, other
officer and auditor shall be entitled to be indemnified out of assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/
her as a Director, auditor or other officer of the Company about the
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.
The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration policy of the Group is set up by Salary Review
Committee on the basis of the Directors’ merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emolument of the Directors are decided by Salary Review Committee,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics. The Director’s fees are subject to the
Shareholders” approval at general meetings.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out in note
36 to the consolidated financial statements.

Emoluments of Directors and Five Highest Paid
Individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group during the Year are set out in notes 15 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively. None of the Directors
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the Year.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in Ordinary Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"))
which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) to be recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO; or (c) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Interests and short positions in Shares and underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company

Interests and short positions in Shares and underlying
Shares

EERFETHRAERNEER A
RO RESPHERIAR

RZE-—F+-A=+—H AQREER
FTETBRABRARR A S ETMBEEE(E
EAESREEED ([FHRIPEEG ] EXV
) mpm - HERMRESTHEAEZAE R
HBEA MBS EHIEXVERE 7 R8N Eme A
DRI RBRER AR (BIEREESE R
HERBIBRIEXESHER AN E IFER M
KR ) ¢ Bk (b) AR ER AR IR 3B 5 R HA B &
FINEFENELMARNERSSAE ()
BAE ET R B S+ FrE E st A BT
BHER ZRFESTR([ZESFR ) ME R F)
MBS ETRRE R MoK BRI -

RADBRDREBARDREZFH
BERAR

R R (7 19 2z KA B

Approximate

Personal Corporate percentage of

interests in interest in Total interests Shares in issue

Name of Director Shares Shares in Shares (Note 1)

HEBITRAEZ

RRGOHH RRGHH RRGHH BABE DL

EENE AR AREER AR (BfFsE1)

Mr. Yao Jianhui (“Mr. Yao") 115,661 (L) 106,731 (L) 222,392 (L) 0.20%

whaEsE s (ka4 ])

Notes: PRRE -

(1) As at 31 December 2022, the total issued share capital of the Company amounted to
109,202,495 Shares.

2) As at 31 December 2022, Mr. Yao through Shenzhen Lai Hua Industrial Limited
Company* (RIIFEFEEE AR AE]) (“Shenzhen Lai Hua"”), a company owned as
to 99.50% by him, held 100% equity interest in Lai Hua Holding Group Limited
Company* GRELAEEBR/AF]) (“Lai Hua Holding Group”), which beneficially
owned 106,731 Shares. Therefore, Mr. Yao was deemed to be interested in the
106,731 Shares held by Lai Hua Holding Group.

Abbreviations: “L" stands for long position
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
nor the chief executives of the Company or their respective associates
had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in any
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (ii) to be recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

Interests and Short Positions in the Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons or entities, not being a Director or the chief executives
of the Company, had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares

BRI RAGREAR 7 9 4F B

Number of

Shares/ Approximate

Capacity in which underlying percentage of

Name of Shareholders interests are held Shares Shares in issue

(Note 1)

RERER REEENEH R5,HERGEA HEBTREABSL

(Bf=E1)

Da Ming Prime Limited Beneficial Owner 29,737,836 (L) 27.23%

EnEAA

Mr. Wang Jian Corporate Interest (Note 2) 20,807,954 (L) 19.05%
TEEE NAlfER (MEE2)

Massive Thriving Limited Beneficial Owner (Note 2) 18,507,300 (L) 16.95%

("Massive Thriving”) A A (FE2)
Corporate Interest (Note 2) 2,300,654 (L) 2.10%

AR (FEE2)

(1) As at 31 December 2022, the total issued share capital of the Company amounted to
109,202,495 Shares.

2) As at 31 December 2022, Shenzhen Changfeng Industrial Company Limited* (%3]
EEZEBRAT), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Massive Thriving, beneficially
owned 2,300,654 Shares whilst Massive Thriving, which was a company wholly owned
by Mr. Wang Jian, beneficially owned 18,507,300 Shares. Accordingly, Mr. Wang Jian
was deemed to be interested in 20,807,954 Shares by virtue of the SFO.

Abbreviations: “L" stands for long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company has not
been notified by any person (other than Directors or the chief executive
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.
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Share Option Scheme

2014 Share Option Scheme

On 26 March 2014, the Company adopted a new share option scheme
(the “2014 Share Option Scheme”) and the major terms of the 2014
Share Option Scheme were summarised as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is (i) to attract
and retain the best quality personnel for the development of
the Company’s businesses; (ii) to provide additional incentives to
employees, consultants, agents, representatives, advisers, suppliers
of goods or services, customers, contractors, business allies and
joint venture partners; and (i) to promote the long term financial
success of the Company by aligning the interests of option holders
to the Shareholders.

Participants of the 2014 Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the Company may at
its absolute discretion grant options to any employee, consultant,
service provider, agent, customer, partner or joint venture partner
of the Company or its subsidiaries (including any director, whether
executive or non-executive and whether independent or not, of
the Company or its subsidiaries) who is in full-time or part-time
employment with the Company or its subsidiaries at the time when
an option is granted to such employee, or any person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or may contribute to
the Group.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the
2014 Share Option Scheme

The total number of Shares may be granted under the 2014
Share Option Scheme is 493,835 Shares after adjustments for
share subdivision in 2015, share consolidation in 2017 and capital
reorganisation in 2022, which represents 0.45% of the total
number of Shares in issue at the date of the Report.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
2014 Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from
time to time.
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(d) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(e)

)]

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) in any 12-month period must not exceed
1% of the total number of Shares in issue, unless approved by the
Shareholders in the manner as stipulated in the 2014 Share Option
Scheme.

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
2014 Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee, which
may commence on the date on which the offer for the grant of
options is made but shall end in any event not later than 10 years
from the date of the grant of the option subject to the provisions
for early termination thereof. No minimum period for which the
option must be held before it can be exercised is specified in the
2014 Share Option Scheme.

The subscription price per Share

The subscription price per Share in respect of an option granted
under the 2014 Share Option Scheme is such price as determined
by the Board at the time of the grant of the options, but in any case
the subscription price shall not be lower than the higher of:

J the closing price of the Share as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date on which
the options are offered, which must be a business day;

o the price being the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding
the date on which the options are offered; and

. the nominal value of a Share on the date on which the
options are offered.
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(h)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Payment on acceptance of option

A non-refundable sum of HK$10 or other amount as determined
by the Board by way of consideration for the grant of an option is
required to be paid by each of the grantee upon acceptance of the
granted option.

Duration of the 2014 Share Option Scheme

The 2014 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years from its adoption date (i.e. 26 March 2014). The 2014
Share Option Scheme will terminate or expire (as the case may be)
on the earlier of (i) the approval of the Shareholders in a general
meeting, and (i) at the close of business on the day immediately
preceding the tenth anniversary of the adoption date (the “Scheme
Period”).

After the Scheme Period, the Company cannot grant new options
but for so long as there are options granted but not yet exercised,
outstanding vested or unvested options, the 2014 Share Option
Scheme will remain in full force and effect of such outstanding
vested or unvested options or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the 2014 Share Option Scheme. As at the date of
the Report, a total of 622,000 share options (after adjustments for
share subdivision in 2015, share consolidation in 2017 and capital
reorganisation in 2022) had been granted by the Company under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme. The number of outstanding share
options as at 31 December 2022 is nil.

(9)

(h)
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Continuing Connected Transactions

During the Year, the Group has not entered into any non-exempt one-
off connected transactions which should be subject to the reporting,
annual review, announcement and/or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the Listing Rules.

On 31 December 2020, EFTERAMR A F] (Baoxin Holdings Company
Limited™*) (“Baoxin Holdings”), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into the Property Management Services Framework
Agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) with &Y EERBEBER
‘A 7A] (Shenzhen Jixiang Property Services Group Limited*) (“Shenzhen
Jixiang”), indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Yao, the Chairman and the
executive Director, being a connected person of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, pursuant to which Shenzhen Jixiang
agreed to provide property management services to Baoxin Holdings and
its subsidiaries (“Baoxin Holdings Group”) in accordance with the principal
terms of the Property Management Services Framework Agreement
for a period of three years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023.
The transactions under the Framework Agreement (the “Transactions”)
constitute continuing connected transactions.

The aggregate amount of the Property Management Services Fees
payable by Baoxin Holdings Group for the period from 1 January 2021
to 31 December 2023 will not exceed RMB115,000,000 and the annual
caps for each of the years ending 31 December 2021, 31 December 2022
and 31 December 2023 will be RMB20,000,000, RMB45,000,000 and
RMB50,000,000,respectively.
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In respect of the Framework Agreement which constitutes the continuing
connected transactions, all the independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the Transactions and confirmed that the Transactions have
been entered into: (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group; (b) on normal commercial terms or better; and (c) in accordance
with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a
whole.

The Auditor, was engaged to report on the continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 (revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

Based on the work performed, the Auditor confirmed to the Board that in
respect of the aforesaid continuing connected transactions (the “CCTs"):

(i) nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that caused the Auditor
to believe that, the CCTs have not been approved by the Board;

(i) nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that caused the Auditor
to believe that, the CCTs have not been entered into, in all material
respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements governing the
transactions; and

(i) nothing has come to the Auditor’s attention that caused the Auditor
to believe that the CCTs have exceeded the relevant cap.

The Auditor has issued an unqualified letter to the Board containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the CCTs under Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. The Company has provided a copy of the Auditor’s letter to
the Stock Exchange as required under Rule 14A.57 of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the relevant
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the Year.

On 28 October 2022, the Company was notified that Mr. Yao had ceased
to be the ultimate beneficial owner of Shenzhen Jixiang and hence the
Framework Agreement would no longer be subject to the annual review
and reporting requirements from the financial year ending 31 December
2023 onwards.
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken during
the Year under review are disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated
financial statements. Save as disclosed in the Annual Report, these related
party transactions either (i) do not constitute connected or continuing
connected transactions; or (ii) fall under the definition of a connected or
continuing connected transaction, but are exempt from the reporting,
annual review, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Share Capital

The Company’s total issued share capital as at 31 December 2022 was
109,202,495 ordinary Shares of par value of HK$0.05 per Share.

On 20 April 2022, the Company held an extraordinary general meeting
and approved (i) the consolidation of every fifty (50) issued and unissued
ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each in the share capital of the Company
into one (1) consolidated share of HK$2.50 in the share capital of the
Company (“Consolidated Shares”) (“Share Consolidation”); (ii) capital
reduction by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent of HK$2.45 on
each of the then issued Consolidated Shares from HK$2.50 to HK$0.05
(“Capital Reduction”); and (iii) each of the authorized but unissued
Consolidated Shares of par value HK$2.5 be sub-divided into fifty (50)
new shares of par value of HK$0.05 each (“Share Sub-division”).

The Share Consolidation became effective on 22 April 2022. Details of
the Share Consolidation were disclosed in the announcements of the
Company dated 11 March 2022 and 20 April 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated 30 March 2022.

The Capital Reduction and the Share Sub-division were effective on 12
July 2022. Details of the Capital Reduction and Share Sub-division were
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 11 March 2022,
20 April 2022, 13 June 2022 and 12 July 2022 and the circular of the
Company dated 30 March 2022.

Details of movements of the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Ordinary Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and “Share Option Schemes”, at no time during the Year
was the Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors or the
chief executive of the Company or any of their respective spouses or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests
in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts of
Significance

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” and “Related Party Transactions”, no contract of
significance to the business of the Group, to which the Company, any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2022, nor
had there been any contract of significance entered into between the
Group, or any of its subsidiaries and any of the Director or the Director’s
connected party during the year ended 31 December 2022. There was no
any other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in relation
to the Group’s business between the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s
Listed Securities

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Competing Interests

Pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules, the interests of Director in
business which might compete with the Group during the Year was as
follows:

Mr. Yao Jianhui, being the Chairman and executive Director, is also the
chairman and executive director of GSFG, which through its subsidiaries,
is also engaged in property investment and development in the PRC.
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GSFG is involved in the investment and development of properties of
different types and/or in different locations, and the Board has been
operating independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of
GSFG, no competition is considered to exist.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

Relief from Taxation

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

Borrowings

Particulars of borrowings of the Group are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Subsidiaries

Particulars regarding principal subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Management Contracts

No contracts relating to the management and/or administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or subsisted during the Year.

Public Float

Based on the information that was publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of the Report, there
has been sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

Events After the Reporting Period

Particulars of events after the reporting period are set out in note 42 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting
process, risk management and internal control system of the Group,
and to review the Company’s annual report and to provide advice and
comments thereon to the Board.

The Audit Committee comprises of Mr. Wong Chun Bong (Chairman),
Ms. He Suying and Dr. Tang Lai Wah, all of whom are independent non-
executive Directors. The Audit Committee has reviewed and approved the
Group’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Disclosures under Rules 13.20 to 13.22 of the
Listing Rules

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 6 March 2023,
in February 2023, Hunan Meilian Property Company Limited ($F %
B E G A8)) (“"Hunan Meilian”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, as debtor, received an early repayment notice
(“Repayment Notice”) from a creditor bank in the PRC (“Creditor A")
in relation to a loan facility with the outstanding principal amount of
RMB227,390,000 (“Facility A”). In the Repayment Notice, it was alleged
that Hunan Meilian had defaulted on its obligations due to its failure to
make timely repayment under Facility A. Accordingly, Creditor A decided
to exercise its acceleration rights and demanded early repayment of the
principal sum and all interests overdue under Facility A. For further details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6 March 2023.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 17 March
2023, in March 2023, the Company received a notice (the “Notice”)
from a creditor bank in the PRC (“Creditor B”) in relation to a loan facility
granted by Creditor B to Shenzhen Jitong Industrial Company Limited*
CFRINEBEEABRAR]) (“Shenzhen Jitong”), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, with an outstanding principal amount
of RMB1,197,000,000 (“Facility B”). Facility B was secured by, among
other things, a guarantee by the Company (as a guarantor) in favour
of Creditor B. In the Notice, it was alleged that Shenzhen Jitong had
defaulted on its obligations due to its failure to make timely repayment
under Facility B. Accordingly, Creditor B demanded the Company (as a
guarantor) to forthwith perform its guaranteed obligations under Facility
B and the relevant guarantee contract. For further details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 17 March 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
R

As at the date of this annual report, the outstanding amount under
Facility A and Facility B have not been repaid. The Company is
continuously assessing the legal, financial and operational impact of each
of the Repayment Notice and the Notice upon the Group. The Company
will closely monitor the development of the abovementioned matters and
will further issue announcement as and when appropriate pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Group had no
circumstances which would give rise to a disclosure obligation under
Rules 13.20 to 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to adopt corporate governance practices. The
Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 49 to 68 of the Annual Report.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2022 have been audited by BDO Limited, who will retire and being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution will be submitted to
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company for the re-
appointment of BDO Limited as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yao Jianhui
Chairman

Hong Kong
30 March 2023

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The principal objective of the Company is to enhance long-term total
return for all its stakeholders. The Company is committed to maintaining
high standards of corporate governance and recognises that sound and
effective corporate governance practices are fundamental to the smooth,
effective and transparent operation of a company and its ability to
attract investment, protect the rights of shareholders and stakeholders,
and enhance shareholder value. As such, the Company’s corporate
governance policy has been designed to achieve these objectives and is
maintained through a framework of processes, policies and guidelines.
The Directors consider that incorporating the elements of good corporate
governance in the management structures and internal control procedures
of the Group could balance the interests of the shareholders, customers,
suppliers and employees of the Company.

In December 2021, the Stock Exchange published the conclusions to
Review of Corporate Governance Code (the “Amended CG Code”)
and the corresponding changes to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) which came into
effect on 1 January 2022. The Board has applied and complied with the
code provisions and the recommended best practices under the Amended
CG Code as applicable. The Board will carry out a regular review and
propose any amendment, if necessary, to ensure compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code provisions as set out in the Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Board and the management of the Company are of the opinion that
the Company has properly complied with the applicable code provisions
in the Corporate Governance Code (version up to 31 December 2021)
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31
December 2022.

The Audit Committee, nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and salary review committee (the “Salary Review
Committee”) of the Company, all with specific written terms of reference
and chaired by an independent non-executive Director, support the
Board in providing independent oversight in their respective areas of
responsibilities. The development committee of the Company oversees
management of, and advises the Board on the development and
implementation of the sustainability initiatives of the Group, including
reviewing the related environment, social and governance ("ESG") policies
and practices, and assessing and making recommendations on matters
concerning the Group’s sustainability development and ESG risks. Further
information on the sustainability initiatives and its key relationships with
stakeholders as well as the ESG performance of the Group can also be
found in the related 2022 ESG Report published on 28 April 2023.
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The Group is committed to achieving and maintaining standards of
openness, probity and accountability. In line with this commitment and in
compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, the Audit Committee
has overseen the financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. In addition, the Company has also
established the Whistleblowing Policy, the Anti-Corruption Policy and the
Inside Information and Disclosure Policy for compliance by all employees
of the Group, the details of the Whistleblowing Policy and the Anti-
Corruption Policy are disclosed in the 2022 ESG Report.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities transactions
and dealing (the “Code of Conduct”) by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of the Model Code. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, they confirmed that they had complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code and the Code of
Conduct during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Board of Directors

At the date of the Report, the Board consists of two executive Directors
namely Mr. Yao Jianhui (Chairman) and Ms. Xia Lingjie (CEO); one non-
executive Director namely Ms. Zhan Yushan; and three independent non-
executive Directors namely Ms. He Suying, Dr. Tang Lai Wah and Mr.
Wong Chun Bong. To the best knowledge of the Company, none of the
Directors has any family, financial, business or other material/relevant
relationship with any of other Directors.

The Company considers that the Board has the necessary skills and
experience appropriate for discharging their duties as Directors in the
best interest of the Company and that the current board size is adequate
for its present operations. Detailed biographies outlining each Director’s
range of specialist experience and suitability for the successful long-term
management of the Group can be found in the section headed “Directors
and Key Personnel Profiles” of the Report.

During the Year, Mr. Yao Jianhui, who is the Chairman, has met with the
independent non-executive Directors without the other Directors present.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the Chairman, namely Mr. Yao Jianhui, and the CEO, namely
Ms. Xia Lingjie, are segregated in order to reinforce their independence
and accountability. There are clear demarcations of responsibility
and authority between the Chairman and the CEO which ensure an
appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater
capacity of the Board for independent decision-making.

Corporate Governance Report
Role and function of the Board and the management

The principal functions of the Board are to make decisions on the
objectives, strategic plans, budgets and management structure of the
Company; to oversee the management of the business and affairs of
the Group; to supervise the management of the business and affairs
with the objective of enhancing the Company and Shareholders’ value
with the proper delegation of power to the management for the day-
to-day operation of the Company, implementation of the budgets and
strategic plans and development of the organization of the Company for
implementing the Board's decisions. The composition and functions of
each Board committee and their major roles and functions are described
below. The final decision still rests with the Board unless otherwise
provided for in the Terms of Reference of the relevant committees.

Independent non-executive Directors are responsible for scrutinising
the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and
objectives; and ensuring that the exercise of the board authority is within
the powers conferred to the Board under the Company’s Articles of
Association, applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Independent non-executive Directors ensure that the Board is accountable
for the interest of all Shareholders and handles matters in an objective
manner. The three independent non-executive Directors have brought
a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for efficient and effective delivery of its
functions.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Directors consider that all the independent
non-executive Directors remain independent. The Board will maintain
proper channels of communication and ensure that the independent
views and input are available to the Board in time, the effectiveness of
which will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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Appointment, Re-Election and Removal of
Directors

Pursuant to Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire by
rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election.

Article 83(3) of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and shall
then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.

Every Director, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors has been appointed for a term of three years and
will be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at least once
every three years at the annual general meeting of the Company. Their
appointments shall be reviewed by the Nomination Committee when they
are being due for re-election.

Board Meetings

The Board holds at least four regular meetings a year. The Board convenes
meetings on a regular basis and on an ad hoc basis, as required by
business needs. All Directors are invited to attend the Board meetings in
person or by video/telephone conference.

Notice of at least 14 days will be given to all Directors for regular Board
meetings and reasonable notices for all other Board meetings will be
given to all Directors so as to ensure that each of them has an opportunity
to attend the meetings. Board papers will be given to the Board at least 3
days before the date of the Board meeting by the Company Secretary.

If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a

matter, the matter will be preferably dealt by a physical Board meeting
rather than a written resolution.

Glory Sun Land Group Limited  Annual Report 2022

I EERERES

RIEARR MBS ERMBIES4(1) X 84Q2) 14 -
BER=ZOZ—EZEREBRT EERES
ARV EZFRARRBFRE FHERT—
R RAEEFEERERET -

ARRMABHERAANE 83C) RREMBEE
FeRENARERERALEREESTEN
BRANESTHENEEZTRAOARRAT
ERRBFASRTRER  AINE LERE
-

BREF(BRIIFVTESRBIIFNTES)
PEZE=FFEH ISR ARFRRBFX
ELWmERTRER ELEB=F—K - K%
ZEERNEBERHREZE SR -

¥

EExEgE

=3
:>3

EXeEFELRTOAEHEH -EFSE
HBRTEH TeAREGTFERTERS
& TREFRIRIAIURE EBEERET
ALFEEFEEER -

PREFCHTHESTSERESHRLI AR
HBA > MENEMEETSSRTESAIEN
BAH URRSEEFHERSLEZSTS
e ARNEEREFTEERAMKL =K
AEFERHEFTEX/f -

HEBBRRXESRAEFEFENSZER 8
BEENANBEEEERERMIEARBRE
o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

During the Year, the Board held a total of seven Board meetings. Details
of Directors’ attendance record in the year of 2022 is as follows:
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No. of meetings
attended/No. of

Directors meetings held
HESERAE

BEx BITEBRE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Yao Jianhui kRS E 5/7

Ms. Xia Lingjie EERELt 77

Non-Executive Director FHITES

Ms. Zhan Yushan EEHZ 717

Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES

Ms. He Suying =&+ 77

Dr. Tang Lai Wah HEEEL 77

Mr. Wong Chun Bong FIRFLLE ar7

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary’s role is to support the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that the Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is responsible for
advising the Board on governance affairs and facilitating the induction
and professional development of Directors. The Company Secretary is
an employee of the Company and reports to the Chairman. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. The
Company Secretary is delegated with the responsibility for drawing up
the agenda for each Board meeting and ensures that, where applicable,
matters proposed by other Directors are included in the agenda and
that all applicable rules and regulations are followed. All Directors may
ask for matters to be included in the agenda for regular Board meetings
by making a request to the Company Secretary. During the Year, the
Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training to update his skills and knowledge
as required by Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Access to Information

All Directors are kept informed of significant changes of the Group’s
business from time to time. They have unrestricted access to the advices
from the Company Secretary who is responsible for furnishing the board
papers and related materials.
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Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by any Director. The
Directors including independent non-executive Directors may seek for
legal advices at the Company’s expenses to discharge their duties.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability

Appropriate insurance cover on directors’ and officers’ liabilities has been
in force to protect the Directors and officers of the Group from their risk
exposure arising from the business of the Group.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

A comprehensive, formal and tailored induction training will be given
to every newly appointed Directors. Directors will be provided with
materials relevant to the Company’s business and director’s duties and
responsibilities. In addition, in order to allow the Directors to understand
the latest development of regulatory and compliance issues, they are also
provided with market news and regulatory updates. A summary of their
training records of continuing professional development (“CPD") is as
follows:
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Types of CPD Subject of CPD

Directors (Note 1) (Note 2)

HESERRERN RBEEERRITE
BE (MtEE1) (FFzE2)
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Yao Jianhui PhiEB A 1,2 A B
Ms. Xia Lingjie BEfEL+ 1,2 A, B
Non-executive Director FETES
Ms. Zhan Yushan P | 1,2 A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUKHTES
Ms. He Suying fA] =B+ 1,2 A, B
Dr. Tang Lai Wah BEEE L 1,2 A, B
Mr. Wong Chun Bong FiRF KA 1,2 A, B
Note 1: BiEET -
1. Attending in-house training or external seminars 1. RS EE RIS
2. Reading newspapers, journals and updated legal and regulatory news Note 2: 2. HEFHE  STRsINEEREEHR
Note 2: B3k 2
A The Company’s business A ENNGIES
B. Laws, rules and regulations, accounting standards B. VAR BRAIREG) - FEHEER)
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Board Committees

The Board has established three statutory committees with specific
written Terms of Reference to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. The Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Salary Review Committee are published on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

At the date of the Report, the Audit Committee consists of all
independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong Chun Bong (the
chairman), Ms. He Suying and Dr. Tang Lai Wah.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, inter alia, to review
and monitor financial reporting and the judgments contained therein;
and to review financial and internal controls half-yearly and annually,
accounting policies and to provide recommendations and advices to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external
auditor as well as their terms of appointment.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the management
the accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group and
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters. The audited
financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31
December 2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Attendance of the Audit Committee members during the Year is set out
below:
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No. of meetings
attended/No. of

Members meetings held

HESRRE
RE BITEBRE
Mr. Wong Chun Bong (Chairman) FIRBAEE () 4/5
Ms. He Suying A RE L L 5/5
Dr. Tang Lai Wah HEEE L 5/5

Nomination Committee

At the date of the Report, the Nomination Committee consists of three
members with two independent non-executive Directors namely Mr.
Wong Chun Bong (chairman) and Ms. He Suying and an executive
Director namely Mr. Yao Jianhui.
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The majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors. The major functions of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure and composition of
the Board, to review and provide recommendations to the Shareholders
on individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and the terms
of Director’s service contract, and to assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors and to review the Board Diversity
Policy. Attendance of the Nomination Committee members during the
Year is set out below:
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No. of meeting
attended/No. of

Members meeting held

HEERRE
RE BTERRE
Mr. Wong Chun Bong (Chairman) FIRFELE(EE) 0N
Mr. Yao Jianhui kB 7
Ms. He Suying DES-%-tun ”n

Nomination Policy

The Company follows a formal, fair and transparent procedure for
the appointment of new directors to the Board. The Nomination
Committee reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board,
identifies suitable candidates if necessary and makes recommendations
to the Board. The director nomination policy sets out the approach and
procedures the Board adopts for the nomination and selection of directors
of the Company including the appointment of additional directors,
replacement of directors, and re-election of directors. Below are details of
the selection criteria and nomination process and procedures as set out in
the director nomination policy.

In the determination of the suitability of a candidate, the Nomination
Committee shall consider the potential contribution such candidate can
bring to the Board in terms of his or her qualifications, skills, experience,
independence, age, culture, ethnicity and gender diversity, etc. The
Nomination Committee shall consider the following selection criteria and
such other factors that it may consider appropriate for a position on the
Board, including but not limited to: (a) attributes complementary to the
Board, (b) business experience, board expertise and skills, (c) availability, (d)
motivation, (e) integrity, (f) independence and (g) diversity (in all aspects).

In any event, the Board shall ensure that the nomination, re-election and/
or appointment of the Directors shall be conducted in compliance with
the Listing Rules, the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company and all other applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out its approach to achieve diversity on the Board
with a view to attaining a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company. The Board Diversity Policy is subject to annual review by the
Nomination Committee.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through the consideration
of a bundle of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and independence. The Company will also take into account
factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time.

The selection of the candidate will ultimately be made based on merit
and contribution and will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, knowledge and skills.

During the Year and as at the date of the Report, the Board is comprised
of six (6) Directors, four (4) of which are female. The following table
further illustrates the diversity of the Board members as of the date of the
Report:
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The Nomination Committee has monitored the implementation of Board
Diversity Policy and has also undertaken periodic review of it at least on
an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness.

The Nomination Committee has been provided with sufficient resources
to perform its duties and may seek independent professional advice at
the Company’s expenses, to perform its responsibilities if it considers
necessary.

Salary Review Committee

At the date of the Report, the Salary Review Committee consists of three
members with two independent non-executive Directors namely Ms. He
Suying (chairlady) and Dr. Tang Lai Wah and an executive Director namely
Mr. Yao Jianhui. The majority of the members of the Salary Review
Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The primary objectives of Salary Review Committee are, inter alia,
to formulate the remuneration policy based on the responsibilities,
qualifications and working performance of senior management of the
Company (“Senior Management”) and Directors; review and recommend
the Board’s annual remuneration policy. The Salary Review Committee
has adopted the model under Code Provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code
to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual Directors and Senior Management. The major objective of
the remuneration policy is to ensure that the Company is able to attract,
retain, and motivate a high-calibre team which is essential to the success
of the Company.

Attendance of the Salary Review Committee members during the Year is
set out below:

REZESEREFEZLILHERNERIS
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RAZEECDREHENERBITERS - X
AEERRBENERT - RETHEBRES R
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RBIULIFHITES °

Fima R E eI ERE B8R (AP )
BARASREEAB(SREEABDR
EZNBE  EFERIERBHIETEHMECE
BHFEFHBRERLANESSRHEHERS
R Fest R EGERMEEERTRIMST
MBS SR E1. 2(0)(ii) IREVIE S - ABLIERIZE S I
BREEABNFMEFENESSRHERE
R o FMBR 2 T 2R RTIBRANABENR
5 REBELHBHARRNNEZHEENSE
=E -

FBR R EeRERANFEALFEZNE
ST

No. of meetings
attended/No. of

Members meetings held

HESRXE
RE BIEBRE
Ms. He Suying (Chairman) fAIERRZE: (F/E) 7
Mr. Yao Jianhui PR A 11
Dr. Tang Lai Wah HEBEE L 7

Details of remuneration paid to Directors and Senior Management for
the Year are set out in notes 15 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Corporate Governance Function

During the Year, the Board was responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as follows:

developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendation to the Board;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuing professional
development of Directors and Senior Management;

o reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to the Group’s employees and Directors; and

o reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure on the corporate governance policies.

Accountability and Audit

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group for the Year, which have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee and audited by the external auditors, BDO Limited (the
" Auditor”).

Going Concern

As the Auditor has not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the consolidated
financial statements for the Year, the Auditor issued the Disclaimer of
Opinion, the details of which are described in the “Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion” section of the Independent Auditor's Report as set out on pages
69 to 73 of the Annual Report.

The detailed discussion in relation to the Disclaimer of Opinion are
disclosed under the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section as set
out on pages 17 to 23 of the Annual Report.

e SER0E v

RERMAE
RAFE EFEREETLLEEAREN

HELBHARBEEEABRELE
B YREFSREERER

s RIREFREENSHREZABNEI
FISBEEER

. BHRERAARESTARRESH
R E B A

o HE RERERASHESREEN
BPREA R

s REARRETEEEATRNERR
EEEEABRTHRE -

BE MR FZ

EXEHARSFARAREAKENAFEAN
MBHE > MAPFERERCKEHAELZRESHE
BPSEIEIE Y G MAREE S-S
(=8B ) Bz -

- 42 47 2
FERE

X BRED R BE B AN R VAR & T S R XIS
ENEENBERBEER/RAFELREWHR
REREZERNER  SRBELATER
BER - BHEFBRAFRFEEIETIHFMEH
BB RE S [TRRERAOER | —&0k

it o

BERATZEXREANFAATRRAFERFEITE
ZEMEZ [EREWEONT] —ERE -

BNEMREEARAT 2022FF

59



60

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
e HEREE 4

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration paid/payable to
BDO Limited, the auditors of the Company, is set out as follows:

Type of services provided by the external auditors

BE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HItFE  Bf
S ENARR RSB EERE B
FTER ARSI T

SMER R BAEm AT iR 2 BRI B2

Fee
EA
(HK$'000)
(F&7T)
Audit services: FERE -
Annual audit services of the Company KA RFEEZRG 2,200

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Group, observing the requirements of the code provisions as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, has established appropriate risk
management and internal control systems that are commensurate with its
current state of business operation and development. The management
is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of the
systems, and the Board, by establishing a risk management committee
(the "Risk Management Committee”) on 31 December 2015, oversees
the systems on an ongoing basis. At the date of the Report, the Risk
Management Committee consists of two executive Directors namely Mr.
Yao Jianhui (chairman) and Ms. Xia Lingjie and a non-executive Director
namely Ms. Zhan Yushan. The Risk Management Committee ensures
that the risk management and internal control measures adopted are
compatible with the Group’s objectives, strategies and risk appetite.
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Attendance of the Risk Management Committee members during the
Year is set out below:

e SER0E v

REREEZEE@XENAFEALESHNE
REHIT -

No. of meetings
attended/No. of

Members meetings held

HESBRE
24=1 BITEERE
Mr. Yao Jianhui (chairman) Pk A 3/3
Ms. Xia Lingjie B+ 3/3
Ms. Zhan Yushan EEM L 3/3

The Board has directed that the effectiveness of the material controls of
the systems be reviewed regularly, at least annually, and such a review
must include financial, operational and compliance controls. The Board,
having considered the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budgets of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions based on reports of an
annual review of the systems, has directed that adequate resources be
allocated to meet the requirements in such aspects.

The main features of the risk management and internal control systems
are described as below.

Risk Management System

In common with all business concerns, the Group strives to achieve its
objectives amidst uncertainty and has adopted as reference the risk
management principles and guidelines under the International Standard
ISO31000 to manage the effect of such uncertainty on its objectives.

The risk management process, developed according to the standard as
an integral part of the management, tailored to and embedded in the
business practices, comprises the following activities and phases:

° Communication and consultation

Communication and consultation with stakeholders or risk owners
being those in charge of legal entities, functional units or business
processes are established, developed and exercised at all stages of
the risk management process, to address issues arising from risks,
causes, consequences and measures required to treat the risks.
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Establishing the context

Desirable objectives are articulated, external as well as internal
parameters are defined, risk criteria is set in order to facilitate the
conduction risk management process.

Risk Assessment

It is the overall process of risk identification, risk analysis and risk
evaluation.

(@)  Risk identification: through the network of communication
and consultation established with stakeholders or risk owners,
sources of risk, areas of impacts, events or changes in
circumstances, causes and consequences are identified. Risks
so identified are reported and recognised in the risk register
to facilitate risk analysis and evaluation of their impact on the
achievement of objectives.

(b)  Risk analysis: an understanding of the risks identified is
obtained in order to consider the causes and sources of risk,
their consequences whether favourable or unfavourable,
likelihood, confidence in determining the level of risk and
sensitivity to preconditions.

(©)  Risk evaluation: decision is made based on the outcome of
risk analysis, about whether a particular risk needs treatment
and corresponding priority for treatment implementation.

Risk treatment

Where decision is made that a particular risk needs treatment,
options are developed for modifying the risk by providing mitigation
or appropriate controls in order to reduce the residual risk to a
tolerable level.

(@)  Controls address the key causes and impacts of the risk.
(b)  Controls consistent with the achievement of the corporate

objectives and performance targets are designed and
implemented.
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e Monitoring and review

(@) Management reviews to ensure controls are effective and
efficient in both design and operation at least annually.

(b)  Risk management performance is regularly monitored.

(c)  Risks and risk management performance are appropriately
communicated to stakeholders or risk owners including
those in charge of governance and those responsible for the
management of legal entities, functional units or business
processes.

The Board, with the assistance of the Audit Committee and Risk
Management Committee, evaluates the effectiveness of the systems for
identifying and managing risks that are material to the achievement of
corporate objectives.

Internal Control System

The Company has an internal control system designed and implemented
according to the framework and principles as advocated by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(“COSO") in 2013. The system thus developed facilitates the Group to
achieve effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance of laws and regulations. The main components
of the framework and the underlying principles that the Group observes
are as follows:

° Control Environment

Sound control environment is established by obtaining commitment
at all levels to integrity and ethical values, appointing independent
board of directors for oversight, enacting structures, organizations
and processes with clear reporting lines, authorities and
responsibilities, developing competences, and holding people
accountable to internal control.

° Risk Assessment

The risk assessment component under the COSO framework
complements that under the International Standard ISO31000. It
emphasises that clear objectives be firstly specified and risks to the
achievement of objectives are then identified with specific reference
to the need for considering potential for fraud and impact of
significant internal and external changes.
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° Control Activities

Control activities are selected and developed as part of the
treatment of risks identified. Controls are developed through
policies and procedures, along with information technology controls
selected and developed where appropriate.

o Information and Communication

This component is concerned with establishing internal and
external communication to provide the Group with quality
information needed to carry out day-to-day controls in support of
the achievement of its objectives. The communication component
under the COSO framework and that under the International
Standard 1SO31000 are two sides of the same coin, with the former
emphasising on information required to support the achievement of
objectives and the latter, on information required to address issues
arising from risks or the impact of uncertainty on the achievement
of objectives.

e Monitoring

It refers to ongoing and separate evaluations conducted to
ascertain whether material controls are appropriately developed and
functioning effectively. Internal control deficiencies identified are
evaluated and communicated to appropriate stakeholders.

Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board, through the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee, has ongoing oversight of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems. The Risk Management Committee holds
regular meetings to review risks recognised in the risks register based on
information from various stakeholders or risk owners. The Directors are
kept regularly apprised of significant risks that may impact the Group’s
performance.

During the Year, the Board has engaged an external professional
consulting firm, JFU CPA, to review the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems with a view to:

o Reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk

management and internal control systems insofar as the principal
operations as identified are concerned;
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o Developing and implementing a new integrated management
tool for coordinating the overall risk management activities of the
Group; and

o Reporting to the Audit Committee the findings of the review and
making recommendations to the Board.

On the findings and recommendations, the Board concludes that the
state of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems is
sufficiently effective and commensurates with the current development
of the Group. The Group has been moving at a rapid pace and key
business structures, organizations and processes are being formed in
support. Accordingly, the Board directs that more resources be assigned
to develop controls, risk treatments and training in alignment with the
continuing development of the Group, ensuring that the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems are maintained.

Inside Information

Policies, procedures and controls for handling and dissemination of
inside information has been set out internally to enhance information
management of the Group and to ensure the authenticity, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of information disclosed to the public
while safeguarding the legitimate rights and interests of the Company,
Shareholders, creditors and other stakeholders as a whole.

Corporate Governance and Internal Audit

The Group believes that good corporate governance practices are very
important for maintaining and promoting investor confidence and for the
sustainable growth of the Group. The Group has established an internal
audit function since 2018 to uplift the quality of corporate governance.

The internal audit function is independent of the Group’s daily operations
and facilitates the Board on evaluating the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting interviews and
performing tests on management and operational controls.

Internal audit work plans are developed and executed with approval
of the Board, and with the essential support of experienced external
consultants. The internal audit function is accountable to the Board
through the Audit Committee.
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Special Measures for Pandemic Outbreak

Since the outbreak of the Pandemic, a number of provinces and
municipalities in the PRC have taken emergency public health measures
and various actions to prevent the spread of the Pandemic during the
Year. Under such special circumstances, the Group has been using its
best endeavours to forestall a prolonged effect of the Pandemic on its
operations.

At the operational level, the Group:

o has set out and adopted series of strict hygiene and epidemic
control measures for sake of safeguarding the personal health
safety of all staff and workers, contractors, customers and the
general public in various office areas, project sites and operating
premises of the Group;

o has designated a committee comprising of management team
members who will be responsible for the supervision of the process
of implementation of those key control measures, coordination and
arrangement of provision of services in the workplace with the aim
to maintain normal operation; and

o has been communicating with key suppliers and contractors for
logistic arrangements to ensure delivery of building construction
materials in various stages and gradual return of the site workers in
preparation for the resumption where applicable.

The Board will continue to assess the impact of the Pandemic on
the operation and financial performance of the Group, while closely
monitoring the development of the Pandemic and the risks and
uncertainties being faced by the Group as a result of the Pandemic and
will take appropriate measures and actions as necessary.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association, any one
or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself/herself or
themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. The requisition in
writing should be sent to the Company’s office at Unit 1305, 13/F., Tower
Two, Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong.

The same procedure also applies to any proposal to be tabled at
Shareholders’ meetings for adoption. The Board will review Shareholders’
enquiries on a periodic basis. Specific enquiries and suggestions by
Shareholders can be sent in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the above address.

In case of shareholding enquires, Shareholders should direct their enquiries
to the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, via its online holding enquiry at www:.tricoris.com,
or by email to is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com or dial its hotline at
(852) 2980 1333 or go in person at its public counter at 17/F, Far East
Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

During the Year, the Board has adopted the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy, which is posted on the Company’s website.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a two-
way relationship and communication between the Company and its
shareholders.

Designated Senior Management is responsible for communicating and
enhancing relationships with the investors of the Company. Enquiries
from investors are dealt with in a timely manner.
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Further, the Company provides extensive information in its annual and
interim reports and announcements. All Shareholders’ communications
are also available on the Company’s website, where the relevant latest
information, the up-to-date state of the Company’s business operation
and development, the Company’s financial information and corporate
governance practices and other data are available to the public.

The general meeting of the Company provides a useful forum for
Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. All Directors will make
an effort to attend the annual general meeting. External auditor is also
available at the annual general meeting to address Shareholders’ queries.
In case of any general meeting to approve a connected transaction or any
other transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’ approval,
members of the independent board committee will also make an effort to
attend to address Shareholders’ queries.

The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders’ communication policy and considered it to be effective.

Details of the Directors’ attendances at the 2022 general meeting are as
follows:
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T

No. of general
Meetings
attended/No. of

Directors general meetings held
HERRAERE

#5 BIRERERH

Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Yao Jianhui kB A 2/2

Ms. Xia Lingjie BiEEL+ 2/2

Non-Executive Directors FHITES

Ms. Zhan Yushan HEHAZ 2/2

Independent Non-Executive Directors BAFHITES

Ms. He Suying fAZEEZ+ 2/2

Dr. Tang Lai Wah HEERET 2/2

Mr. Wong Chun Bong THRAEE 2/2

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company does not have any changes in the constitutional document
during the Year.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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EEE 1 +85222188288
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25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

EFATHEER11158
KBRHIDL251

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF GLORY SUN LAND GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of
Glory Sun Land Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 74 to 228, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the
“Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we have not been
able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other
respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Scope limitation relating to appropriateness of the
going concern assumption

As disclosed in note 2(c) to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$911 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022, and as of that date, as disclosed in note 29
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had total borrowings
of approximately HK$6,481 million, of which the current borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$5,568 million, while the Group had bank
and cash balances of approximately HK$88 million only.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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As at 31 December 2022, as a result of not making scheduled
repayment of loan principal and/or interest and breach of other loan
covenants during the year, among the current borrowings, the entire
principal amounts of approximately HK$3,295 million in aggregate
which comprised bank borrowings of approximately HK$1,567 million
(the "FY2022 Defaulted Bank Borrowings”), other borrowings of
approximately HK$9 million, corporate bonds of approximately HK$605
million and loans from related parties of approximately HK$1,114 million,
together with interest payables of approximately HK$326 million became
due and repayable on demand.

In particular, due to not making scheduled repayment of interest and
breach of other loan covenants during the year, a non-current bank
borrowing of approximately HK$1,317 million was reclassified as the
current liabilities which was included in the FY2022 Defaulted Bank
Borrowings.

Subsequent to 31 December 2022, the Group has received repayment
notices from the banks to demand for repayment of total outstanding
principal amounts of approximately HK$1,567 million of the FY2022
Defaulted Bank Borrowings, together with the interest payables.

In addition, due to not making scheduled repayment of loan principal
and/or interest subsequent to 31 December 2022, the entire principal
amounts of approximately HK$604 million in aggregate including bank
borrowings of approximately HK$384 million (the “FY2023 Defaulted
Bank Borrowings”) and other borrowings of approximately HK$220
million, together with interest payables of approximately HK$83
million became due and repayable on demand subsequent to the end
of the reporting period. In particular, among the FY2023 Defaulted
Bank Borrowings, a bank borrowing with the entire principal amount
of approximately HK$318 million, of which approximately HK$66
million and approximately HK$252 million were classified as current
borrowing portion and non-current borrowing portion, respectively as
at 31 December 2022, has subsequently become due and repayable on
demand as a result of not making scheduled repayment of loan principal
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

These conditions, together with other matters set out in note 2(c) to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and, therefore, that the Group may not be
able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have
prepared a cash flow forecast (the “Cash Flow Forecast”) which takes
into account of the plans and measures as set out in note 2(c) to the
consolidated financial statements. Based on the assessment made by
the directors of the Company, assuming the plans and measures can be
successfully implemented as scheduled notwithstanding the inherent
uncertainties associated with the future outcome of the above plans
and measures, the Group is able to continue as a going concern and it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The appropriateness of the consolidated financial statements prepared
on a going concern basis largely depends on whether those plans and
measures as detailed in note 2(c) to the consolidated financial statements
can be successfully implemented as scheduled.

However, in respect of the plans and measures that the Group would
successfully make further drawdown of the unutilised loan facilities from
the fund providers (the “Fund Providers”), as and when necessary, we
were unable to obtain the information that we considered necessary
for our evaluation of the financial viability of the Fund Providers to
provide sufficient funds to the extent that is necessary based on the Cash
Flow Forecast due to the unavailability of the information of the Fund
Providers.

Due to the limitations on our scope of work as stated above and there are
no alternative audit procedures that we can perform to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to support the above plans and measures
can be successfully implemented, as a result, we were unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate evidence to conclude whether the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting to prepare the consolidated
financial statements is appropriate.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above plans and measures as
abovementioned, it might not be able to continue to operate as a going
concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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We disclaimed our opinion on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 (“2021 consolidated
financial statements”) relating to the going concern basis of preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The balances as at 31 December 2021
and the amounts for the year then ended are presented as comparative
information in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022. We disclaimed our audit opinion on the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 also for the
possible effect of the disclaimer of opinion on 2021 consolidated financial
statements on the comparability of 2022 figures and 2021 figures in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report. This report
is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

However, because of the matter described in the “Basis for Disclaimer
of Opinion” section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on
these consolidated financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ngai Hang

Practising Certificate Number P04743

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
fo 18 A S LAt 2 i W 4

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2 —F - —F 1+ _-A=+—HILFZ

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FHET FAT
Continuing operations BHEREER
Revenue = 9 1,617,467 5,504,341
Cost of sales SHERA (2,142,594) (5,234,073)
Gross (loss)/profit E(8)F (525,127) 270,268
Selling expenses HEMX (53,119) (99,558)
Administrative expenses 1TERFASZ (118,956) (141,074)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBARR K 37(a) = 296,057
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment BEMESANTE(EBE) ks
properties 21 (222,953) 70,713
Fair value gain on derivative financial ITESREEN R HERS
asset - 1,313
Impairment losses on property, plant and 4% - & KR ERIEEE - H58
equipment — net 20 (24,508) (35,755)
Impairment losses on financial and SRR EHNEERERE - F58
contract assets — net (12,673) (23,005)
Other income, gains/(losses) — net Hablg A -~ Wz (E518) - 358 10 81,455 9,875
(Loss)/profit from operations K (BE) R (875,881) 348,834
Finance costs BERA 11 (185,902) (125,036)
(Loss)/profit before income tax BREFEBAT (BE) ER 13 (1,061,783) 223,798
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfiike, (k) 12 150,519 (3,541)
(Loss)/profit for the year from REFECEEBRNAREE
continuing operations (E518) %7 (911,264) 220,257
Discontinued operations BAIEREER
Profit for the year from discontinued R E B AR A& TS AN 5 )
operations 17 - 84,452
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (BE) BR (911,264) 304,709
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
o P TR i B L il 2 v W i

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #2 —F - —F 1+ _-A=+—HIFFZ

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
s FET FAT
Other comprehensive income, BREEEMMEEKER
net of tax
Item that will not be reclassified THEHFEEEmEE -
to profit or loss:
Fair value changes of equity ERATHESBEMEAWETIER
instruments at fair value through (MEAFEEBEMEEE
other comprehensive income FIER ) 2R T AWM A FEE
("FVTOCI") £ (3.441) (2,782)
(3.441) (2,782)
Items that may be reclassified HETEN 7 EZREEE -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating BEGINETSHIE X =58
foreign operations (684,698) 180,390
Exchange differences reclassified HEWBATSETSEEELR
to profit or loss on disposal of HbE X =58
subsidiaries - (31,732)
(684,698) 148,658
Other comprehensive income for TEENREAZEM2EKS
the year, net of tax (688,139) 145,876
Total comprehensive income for AEEZHIKNRERE
the year (1,599,403) 450,585
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable FE{GZAEE (FiE),H5F ¢
to:
Owners of the Company PAN/NEIES TSN
— Continuing operations - BB (787,049) 250,169
— Discontinued operations = Jl S = 84,452
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable AARFEAREARFE
to owners of the Company (B18) % H (787,049) 334,621
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR
— Continuing operations — B REETS (124,215) (29,912)
Loss for the year attributable to I RGN FEEE -
non-controlling interests (124,215) (29,912)
(911,264) 304,709
Total comprehensive income for the E{iAFEEZEUGEHAE
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company VIN/NEIEEY SN (1,278,066) 393,486
Non-controlling interests FEFR MR S (321,337) 57,099
(1,599,403) 450,585
(Loss)/earnings per share — basicand &% (Fi8) BF - EXAR#E (re-presented)
diluted (HK cents) (L) (#=5%)
— Continuing operations — BB 19 (720.73) 239.70
— Discontinued operations - BRI ETE 19 = 80.92
19 (720.73) 320.62
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

i SR L A

As at 31 December 2022 R —ZE - —#+_-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E-CF T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B EE FET FAT
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B NERIE 20 84,048 137,116
Investment properties wEME 21 3,492,852 4,063,202
Goodwill EES 22 - =
Financial assets at FVTOCI EAFEESBEMZEKGETIRZ
TREE 24 1,253 4,694
3,578,153 4,205,012
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 25 8,086,954 10,016,940
Contract assets BHEE 26 31,505 34,619
Trade and other receivables B 5 N EMEKRIA 27 4,407,066 5,116,986
Tax recoverable EE4EE 51,119 53,487
Pledged and restricted bank deposits BRI MR EERI TR 28 441,325 381,882
Bank and cash balances RITRIRES 4 28 88,415 341,393
13,106,384 15,945,307
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings RN 29 5,567,577 5,404,088
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMERFRIA 30 4,022,677 4,039,754
Contract liabilities AHAaE 26 2,386,427 2,351,563
Financial guarantee BTG HEIR 31 80,482 -
Lease liabilities HEBE 40 5,581 5,918
Current tax liabilities BNEAfIB B B 97,613 101,877
12,160,357 11,903,200
Net current assets REBEEFE 946,027 4,042,107
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

0 SR Dl 2

As at 31 December 2022 R =—F - —F+—=-H=+—H

2022 2021

—E-CF T

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

B 5T TH&T FHT

Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERAEBAR 4,524,180 8,247,119
Non-current liabilities kRBAE

Borrowings BN 29 913,535 2,663,386

Financial guarantee B TS HER 31 - 89,628

Lease liabilities MHEBE 40 47,062 58,626

Deferred tax liabilities BERTBEE 32 371,029 643,522

1,331,626 3,455,162

NET ASSETS BEEFE 3,192,554 4,791,957
Capital and reserves ERR B

Share capital A& 33 5,460 273,006

Reserves i 35 1,670,408 2,680,928

Equity attributable to owners of the RATIHEE AR

Company 1,675,868 2,953,934

Non-controlling interests FEF RS 1,516,686 1,838,023

TOTAL EQUITY EREE 3,192,554 4,791,957

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2023 and were signed on its

behalf.

Yao Jianhui

ke
Director

EF

W)

p=lllg
N
[ 48
Sk

AV BRREEESEN _T_=F=
BHUER TR BIA TERRER

Xia Lingjie
xR
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
o T A 5 B

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KDAREREAES
Share Non-
Share Share  redemption Merger ~ Statutory Other ~ Shareholders  Translation FTOC  Accumulated controlling
apital  premium resenve resenve reserve reserve  contribution reserve reserve losses Total interests  Total equity
BOTE
FEHfRE
bt
R&  BfEE BROMEEE  AHEE GERE  HEBE  BRRME ENRR i EiEE Bt pEHRER  ERSE
HK$'000 HK$1000 HKS 1000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$1000 HKS1000 HK$'000
Thr Thn T Tin Tin T T Thn Thr Thr Thn T T
At lanuary 202 Ho8-2-5-A WS 3leE 28 pOme % L G mED  (BRY (BN 2088 M 406
Proftforthe year KEREH = = = = = = = = = 334621 334621 (2891) 304709
Fair vl changes of equity RATEREEM2ANEIE,

nstruments at FVTOCI BRTEH - - - - - - - - 278)) - (278) - (278)
Bichange dferences ontrandlating. — AE NI ERAEN 28

foreln operations - - - - - - - 9379 - - 93379 8701 18039
Bichange diferences recssfied  HEMBRTRERHEERENE

o proft o loss on disposals of HER

subsidiaries - - - - - - - (31732 - - 3173) - 3173
Total comprehensive income for - AEE2FHEEE

the year = = = S = S = 61,647 (2780) 34621 393,486 57,099 450585
Disposes of subsciaries HEHBLA - - - 90026 91.427) 2,08) - - - (846,5%6) - (8519) 8519
Deemed partial disposa of RS ERRAT

subsdares withoutlosng conol (REAIESIEE) (i 230)

(note 231b) o o & S S 4351 - m - - 5064 (5,064) -
Isuance of shares on placement ~ EEREARI (K333)

(note 33) 85,501 07034 - - - - - - - - 253 - 153
Transler to statutory esenve AZivdE - - = = 1919 = = = S (£9,195) = = =
Changes inequity fortheyear ~ AEEERSE 8H,501 01034 - 940,026 0130 2308 - 62,360 (2782 (561,130) 671,085 43516 T14601
At31December 2021 HoB=-£2A1-E M6 341685 289 SN A LT (680 (893 2mBC BRI 4%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

f iy A 5 Bl

KDAREREAES
Share Non-
Share Share  redemption  Statutory Other ~ Shareholders  Translation FVTOC  Accumulated controlling
apital  premium resenve reserve reserve  contribution reserve reserve losses Total interests  Total equity
BAPE
FEHfRE
Waslg
R&  BHEE ROMERE  ERE  AMHE 0 BREE ENER fff  ZiER Bt FEHRER  EESE
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T TEn T TEn TEn TEn TER 18R TER T T TEn
At1January 2022 W-BZZE-B-A 273,006 3,416,858 2,269 54,201 904,419 4149 164,990 (16621)  (1849331) 2953934 1838,023 4791957
Loss or the year KEEEE - - - - - (187.009)  (187049) (14215 (911,264
Fair value changes of equity nstruments at
frod - - - - (3,041) - (3,441) (3.441)
Exchange differences on transating freign
operations - - - (487,576) - - (487,576) (197,122) (684,698)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2AHGEE - - - (487,576) (3.441) (787,049)  (1,218,066) (321337)  (1,599,403)
Reduction of shae capta upon capita RAEEEREE ()
rearganisation (note 33) (267,546) - - - - 267,546 -
Transferto statutory esene EBELTRE - 1,565 - - - - (1,565) =
Changes inequityfo the year FEERRSE (267546) 1565 - SIS ) (G0 (806 B3N (15%9403)
At 31 December 2022 W-BZZEtZf=t-R 5,460 3,416,858 2269 55,766 904,419 4149 (322,586) (2006) (2370405 1,675,868 1,516,686 3,192,554
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
s FHET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRIRE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before income tax B ETSRLAT (EB1R) & A
— Continuing operations — BT (1,061,783) 223,798
— Discontinued operations - BRI TS = 84,452
(1,061,783) 308,250
Adjustments for: AT RIEFE -
Interest income B U A 10 (4,083) (9,924)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR 37(a) = (399,199)
Finance costs BB RN g 185,902 140,643
Amortisation of other intangible assets ~— E{th EE A& A 8 13 - 4,303
Depreciation e 13 21,107 30,642
Loss on disposal of property, plantand &Y - BE &R IENEE
equipment 10 32 1
Gain on early termination of lease BRI IERE MY 10 - 2)
Gain on lease modifications HEENRWES 10 (2,246) =
Fair value loss/(gain) on investment WEWEN N EEE, (W)
properties 21 222,953 (70,713)
Fair value gain on derivative financial TEemEEMNRN T EKE
asset = (1,313)
Foreign exchange gain Nl e (70,865) =
Loss from derecognition of derivative BIHERTE S B ENETE
financial asset 10 - 33,357
Impairment losses on other intangible  E 4 712 & R (E 518
assets 13 - 10,211
Impairment losses on property, plant ME - ME K&K
and equipment — net RIEEE - 55 13 24,508 35,755
Impairment losses on financial and SRNEAENEERBEERE - F58
contract assets — net 13 12,673 23,730
Write-down of inventories T EHUR 13 700,068 163,998
Operating profit before working capital %8 & & BB F] 2 & 25T
changes 28,266 269,739
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other 25 & H b fE k18
receivables WA (Em) 50,890 (214,807)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD,(E0) 605,301 (1,453,808)
Increase in contract liabilities AHEEE N 292,308 2,137,536
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H A FET R IEIE h1 44,304 1,153,491
Cash generated from operations KETHEEE 1,021,069 1,892,151
Tax paid ENHIE (67,766) (159,735)
Interest received EHFIE 4,083 9,924
Net cash generated from operating ST TS IR & R %R
activities 957,386 1,742,340
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

PoE - CFEF =1 —HIFFE

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
s FET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETZHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash PEWBAR  MRELERS
disposed 37(a) - 178,023

Placement of pledged and restricted
bank deposits
Withdrawal of pledged and restricted

FA BRI R ZRBIRITFR

TR IR S X R BIRTTIFR

(901,406) (1,946,157)

bank deposits 796,733 2,134,586
Proceeds from disposal of financial BTFEEERATEBREM
assets at FVTOC! in prior year FEKBEIECEREE
FriS3k3R 3,946 -
Consideration received in relation to BATFEEHEMBARZ
disposal of subsidiaries in prior year BURE 132,000 -
Payment of consideration in relation BEFEUWEENE A RSN
to acquisition of subsidiaries in prior KRB
year = (548)
Purchases of property, plant and EEME - BE&&HE
equipment (8,190) (34,642)
Payment for investment properties XAREYE (25,669) (233,559)
Payment for intangible assets XEEE = (128)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE  HENMERERN
plant and equipment FriSsE 55 103
Proceeds from disposal of investment &SRB EMN TS RIE
properties 24,608 415,604
Net cash generated investing activities R & RS FTISIR S H5E 22,077 513,282
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
s FET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Advance from/(repayment to) related RaE 2 e, (BE)
parties 37(b) 1,433 (110,536)
Proceeds from borrowings B FEHIE 37(b) 2,813,120 5,117,219
Proceeds from issue of corporate BITRRIEFBRIE
bonds 37(b) - 180,000
Proceeds from issue of shares on B E R B TRR D RS I8
placement - 272,535
Repayment of borrowings BEEm 37(b) (3,677,822) (6,873,804)
Repayment of corporate bonds EBEARES 37(b) (75,012) (374,000)
Repayment of principal portion on BEHERRE2ASHD
lease liabilities 37(b) (914) (6,405)
Repayment of interest portion on EREEREZFEHD
lease liabilities 37(b) (5,524) (6,003)
Repayment to a non-controlling ERIEE MRS
interest 37(b) (205) (230)
Interest paid 2T & 37(b) (253,584) (799,271)
Net cash used in financing activities A RIS T (1,198,508) (2,600,495)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERHRESZEEYRL FHE
EQUIVALENTS (219,045) (344,873)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHNzBEERBRESEEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 341,393 735,501
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ExgH s T8
RATE CHANGES (33,933) (49,235)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT SXZRERBESZEY -
END OF YEAR, REPRESENTED BY BRUTARRT 88,415 341,393
Bank and cash balances WEREFER S 88,415 341,393
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 17 S 5 A Wi

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business in Hong Kong
is Unit 1305, 13/F, Tower Two, Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway,
Admiralty, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements. “The Group” comprises the Company and its
subsidiaries.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS"), Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to
as the “HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”).

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for investment properties
and certain financial instruments, which are measured at fair
values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Going concern assumption

The Group incurred a loss of approximately HK$911 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022, and as of that date, as
disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had total borrowings of approximately HK$6,481
million, of which the current borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$5,568 million, while the Group had bank
and cash balances of approximately HK$88 million only.

As at 31 December 2022, as a result of not making scheduled
repayment of loan principal and/or interest and breach of
other loan covenants during the year, among the current
borrowings, the entire principal amounts of approximately
HK$3,295 million in aggregate which comprised bank
borrowings of approximately HK$1,567 million (the “FY2022
Defaulted Bank Borrowings”) (note 29(a)), other borrowings
of approximately HK$9 million (note 29(b)), corporate bonds
of approximately HK$605 million (note 29(d)) and loans
from related parties of approximately HK$1,114 million (note
29(e)), together with interest payables of approximately
HK$326 million became due and repayable on demand.

In particular, due to not making scheduled repayment of
interest and breach of other loan covenants during the year,
a non-current bank borrowing of approximately HK$1,317
million was reclassified as the current liabilities which was
included in the FY2022 Defaulted Bank Borrowings.

Subsequent to 31 December 2022, the Group has received
repayment notices from the banks to demand for repayment
of total outstanding principal amounts of approximately
HK$1,567 million of the FY2022 Defaulted Bank Borrowings,
together with the interest payables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao By WA 5 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2. mEEE®
(c) Going concern assumption (Continued) () BERKERR B

In addition, due to not making scheduled repayment of loan
principal and/or interest subsequent to 31 December 2022,
the entire principal amounts of approximately HK$604 million
in aggregate including bank borrowings of approximately
HK$384 million (the “FY2023 Defaulted Bank Borrowings”)
(note 29(a)) and other borrowings of approximately HK$220
million (note 29(b)), together with interest payables of
approximately HK$83 million became due and repayable on
demand subsequent to the end of the reporting period. In
particular, among the FY2023 Defaulted Bank Borrowings,
a bank borrowing with the entire principal amount of
approximately HK$318 million, of which approximately
HK$66 million and approximately HK$252 million were
classified as current borrowing portion and non-current
borrowing portion, respectively as at 31 December 2022, has
subsequently become due and repayable on demand as a
result of not making scheduled repayment of loan principal
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

The above conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that the
Group may not be able to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company
have prepared a cash flow forecast of the Group covering the
next fifteen months from the end of reporting period (the
“Cash Flow Forecast”) with plans and measures to mitigate
the liquidity pressure and to improve its financial position.
Certain plans and measures have been or will be taken by
the directors of the Company include, but not limited to, the
following:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F -~ —4#F 1+ - H=+—HIFFZF

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Going concern assumption (Continued)

(i)

On 3 October 2022, the Group and the related parties,
Glory Sun Financial Group Limited (“GSFG") and
its subsidiaries (collectively as the “GSFG Group”)
entered into a framework agreement (the “Framework
Agreement”), and on 19 October 2022, the Group
and the GSFG Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Group conditionally agreed to
sell, and GSFG Group conditionally agreed to acquire,
the 51% of the total equity interest of Shantou
Taisheng Technology Limited (“Shantou Taisheng”), an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company
at the consideration of approximately RMB1,176 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,293 million) (“1st
Tranche Disposal”).

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, the
consideration from the 1st Tranche Disposal (the “1st
Tranche Consideration”) will be used to settle the
outstanding principal amount of all the loans advanced
by the GSFG Group of approximately HK$1,114 million
in aggregate (note 29(e)) and all interest accrued
thereon up to the completion of the 1st Tranche
Disposal (“1st Tranche Completion”). The remaining
balance of 1st Tranche Consideration shall be fully used
to repay the interest accrued under a current bank
borrowing with a principal amount of approximately
HK$391 million of an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, namely Shenzhen Baoxin
Industrial Company Limited (“Shenzhen Baoxin”), which
is secured by investment properties and properties
held for sale of Shantou Taisheng (“Secured Loan")
as and when they fall due pursuant to the irrevocable
undertaking given by the Group upon entering into the
Framework Agreement. The 1st Tranche Disposal has
been completed on 22 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Going concern assumption (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, subject
to the satisfaction (or waiver, as the case may be) of
the conditions precedent, the Group shall dispose the
remaining 49% of the total equity interest of Shantou
Taisheng to GSFG Group within twelve months from
the 1st Tranche Completion at the consideration
of approximately RMB1,129 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,242 million) (“2nd Tranche
Disposal”), the consideration from the 2nd Tranche
Disposal will be used to settle the amount due to
Shantou Taisheng by the Group and the remaining
balance shall be used to settle the full outstanding
amount of the Secured Loan.

The Group has been actively negotiating with a
bondholder of corporate bond in principal amount of
HK$500 million (note 29(d)), for possible settlement
arrangements, which may include, among other things,
to use assets for settlement or to extend the maturity
date of borrowing. Up to the date of approval of the
consolidated financial statements, the lender has not
made any demand for immediate bond redemption. In
this respect, the directors of the Company are confident
that the Group would be able to achieve a possible
settlement arrangement with the relevant bondholder
during the period of the Cash Flow Forecast.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F -~ —4#F 1+ - H=+—HIFFZF

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(c) Going concern assumption (Continued)

(iv)  As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a number of
unutilised loan facilities of approximately HK$3,186
million in aggregate (note 29(b)). Subsequent to 31
December 2022, the Group has further obtained a
number of new loan facilities from a number of fund
providers with an amount of approximately HK$2,222
million in aggregate (the “2023 New Facility”) (note
29(b)) and the Group has drawn down approximately of
HK$84 million of the 2023 New Facility (note 29(b)). In
this respect, the directors of the Company are confident
that these unutilised loan facilities could provide
adequate funding to the Group, as and when necessary,
such as repayment of overdue borrowings.

(v)  The Group will accelerate the pre-sales of its major
property development projects during the period of the
Cash Flow Forecast.

Based on the Cash Flow Forecast assuming the above plans
and measures can be successfully implemented as scheduled
notwithstanding the inherent uncertainties associated with
the future outcome of the above plans and measures, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
is able to continue as a going concern and would have
sufficient financial resources to finance the Group's operations
and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.
Accordingly, it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above plans and
measures as abovementioned, it might not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments
would have to be made to write down the carrying values of
the Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 17 S 5 A Wi

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
(d) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“"HK$"),
which is the Company’s presentation and functional currency.
Amount are rounded to thousands, unless otherwise stated.

3. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs
(a) Adoption of amended HKFRSs — effective 1
January 2022

The HKICPA has issued a number of amended HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the

Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and

Equipment — Proceeds

before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost

of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1
HKFRS 2018-2020 Cycle First-time Adoption of

Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards,
HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, HKFRS 16
Leases and HKAS 41
Agriculture

The adoption of the above amended HKFRSs did not have any
significant impact on the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 S 5 R B

3. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have been
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to
apply these changes on the date they become effective.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the
related amendments’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of
and HKAS 28 Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with
Covenants?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Hong Kong Interpretation

5 (Revised) Presentation
of Financial Statements
— Classification by the
Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause?

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies'

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates'
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to

Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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KRB BMBREER @)
(b) T MBI REBZHETH

3. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (Continued) 3.

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these new
accounting standards and amendments. The Group does not
expect these new accounting standards and amendments
issued but not yet effective, to have a material impact on the
Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of consolidation

Business combination

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Group. Inter-company transactions and
balances between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit
or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the dates of
acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by other members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combination using the
acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and
assets meets the definition of a business and control is
transferred to the Group. In determining whether a particular
set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses
whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at
a minimum, an input and substantive processes and whether
the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of
the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as the
acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair
value. The Group’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The
Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to
measure the non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other non-controlling interests are measured at
fair value unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed
unless they are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which
case the costs are deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent
adjustments to consideration are recognised against goodwill
only to the extent that they arise from new information
obtained within the measurement period (a maximum of
12 months from the acquisition date) about the fair value
at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to
contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Business combination (Continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at
initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share
of subsequent changes in equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position within equity, separately from equity attributable to
owners of the Company. Profit or loss and each component
of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling
interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or
received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity
attributable to owners of the Group.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest.
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or
liabilities were disposed of.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

(o)

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any of
these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Goodwill

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration paid,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree, the excess is recognised in
profit or loss on the acquisition date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
acquisition. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable
group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, by comparing its
carrying amount with its recoverable amount (see note 4(p)),
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may be
impaired.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(d)

Goodwill (Continued)

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that financial year.
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is
less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss
is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit first, and then to the other assets of the
unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount to each
asset in the unit. However, the loss allocated to each asset will
not reduce the individual asset’s carrying amount to below its
fair value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in
use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not
reversed in subsequent periods.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write
off their cost or valuation net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful
lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. The useful lives are as follows:

Office equipment
Motor vehicles
Buildings

3 to 10 years

4 to 5 years

Over the shorter of the term
of the lease, and 20-30
years

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Land and properties leased for Over the lease term
own use

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction as well as
borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of construction
and installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate class
of property, plant and equipment when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended
use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect
of construction in progress until it is completed and ready for
its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds
and its carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Investment properties

()

Investment properties are properties held either to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for
sale in the ordinary course of business, use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Investment properties are measured at cost on initial
recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change
therein recognised in profit or loss.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of
the investment properties under construction.

Investment properties are derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment properties are permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property, calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.

Leases
The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose
not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/or
(i) leases for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The
Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term of 12 months or
less and do not contain purchase option. The lease payments
associated with those leases have been expensed on straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to account
for lease liability); (i) any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
(iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an
estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling
and removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs
are incurred to produce inventories.

Except for right-of-use asset that meets the definition of an
investment property or leasehold land where the interest in
the land is held as inventory, the Group measures the right-of-
use assets applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the
Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability.

The Group accounts for leasehold land and buildings that are
held for rental or capital appreciation purpose under HKAS
40 and are carried at fair value. The Group accounts for right-
of-use assets related to interests in leasehold land where
the interest in the land is held as inventory are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Other than the above
right-of-use assets, the Group also has leased a number
of properties under tenancy agreements which the Group
exercises it judgement and determines that it is a separate
class of asset apart from the leasehold buildings which is
held for own use. As a result, the right-of-use asset arising
from the properties under tenancy agreements are carried at
depreciated cost.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable: (i) variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as
at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable
by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise
price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain
to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee
exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount
to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the
carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and (iii)
remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment
or lease modifications, or to reflect revised in-substance fixed
lease payments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease
(because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of a
lessee extension or termination option being exercised), it
adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect
the payments to make over the revised term, which are
discounted using a revised discount rate. The carrying value of
lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable element
of future lease payments dependent on a rate or index is
revised, except the discount rate remains unchanged. In both
cases, an equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value
of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount
being amortised over the remaining (revised) lease term. If the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is adjusted to zero,
any further reduction is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease
with the lessor, if the renegotiation results in one or more
additional assets being leased for an amount commensurate
with the standalone price for the additional rights-of-use
obtained, the modification is accounted for as a separate
lease, in all other cases, where the renegotiation increases
the scope of the lease (whether that is an extension to the
lease term, or one or more additional assets being leased), the
lease liability is remeasured using the discount rate applicable
on the modification date, with the right-of-use asset being
adjusted by the same amount, if the renegotiation results in a
decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying amount
of the lease liability and right-of-use asset are reduced by the
same proportion to reflect the partial or full termination of
the lease with any difference recognised in profit or loss. The
lease liability is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying
amount reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments
over the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments
discounted at the rate applicable on the modification date
and the right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

The Group has leased out its investment property to a number
of tenants. Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on
the straight-line basis over the lease term.

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for a lease that
was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease
are accounted for as lease modifications. The Group accounts
for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification, recognising the
remaining lease payments as income on a either a straight-
line basis or another systematic basis over the remaining lease
term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F = —#F+ - H=+—HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Financial Instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without
a significant financing component) is initially measured
at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable
without a significant financing component is initially
measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention
in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining whether
their cash flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao By WA 5 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost
are subsequently measured using the effective interest
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.
Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss.

FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured at
FVTOCI. Debt investments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using
the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains
and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or
loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and
losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F = —#F+ - H=+—HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"): Financial
assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial recognition at
FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily required to be
measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at FVTPL,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the
criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at FVTOCI, as described above, debt instruments
may be designated at FVTPL on initial recognition
if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao By WA 5 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in the investment's fair
value in other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis. Equity
investments at FVTOCI are measured at fair value.
Dividend income are recognised in profit or loss unless
the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of
part of the cost of the investments. Other net gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income
and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in
fair value, dividends and interest income are recognised
in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables, financial
assets measured at amortised cost and debt investments
measured at FVTOCI. ECLs are measured on either of
the following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are the
ECLs that result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime
ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F -~ —4#F 1+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group measured loss allowances for trade
receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and has
calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on
the 12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECL, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This includes
both quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30
days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 # %

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default
when the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to
action such as realising security (if any is held); or the
financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

° failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

o existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the counterparty; (2) a breach of contract,
such as a default or past due event; (3) the lender(s)
of the counterparty, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the counterparty’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the counterparty a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; (4) it
is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or (5) the
disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
G A R MR

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally
the case when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that could
generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off. Subsequent recoveries of an
asset that was previously written off are recognised as
a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in
which the recovery occurs.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest
income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and
other payables, borrowings and consideration payable
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. The related interest expense
is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao By WA 5 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected life of
the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.
A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group
and not designated as at FVTPL is recognised initially
at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee
contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contact at the higher
of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance, being the
ECL provision measured in accordance with principles
of the accounting policy set out in 4(g)(ii); and (ii) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15.

4, FESTTHER @)
(9) €@MIA#)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

ERRF L

ERFNEEARAETRHEE
K& BB E B EHAAR R
B RAHE D A S YA
BX 2k BREMEE
EBEREELRENE
HIFEHsk (E ) 808 B
M ERERRIR (5T R R &3
AT FRE I

KEXTA

RRBEITZRAT R
BREZBEITRARZE WA
SRS

M BEREXN

MBERAAOTIHAERERLA
AFAEASMNEESE A
BEEFEABRETEHA
REEBIBES TR RIAHLE
& 7T 16 FRP B BA RS A5 SR =%
XBRZAEHN AAKEH
2 I TE BIR R FEE
BIESIIRZMBERAD
V4R N FAE R 3% B TS 42
REONEERIERHEA
TR - L ERK > &
SEZATEERSENE
MBRRED () BERES
& BRIEM T 4()i) PRELE
ARG EZEME
EEERE VTR
SRR (NEE)REBEFBH
¥R 5 2R RIS 15 5% &0 SR BRIl g
R RETHEH

BNEMREEARAT 2022FF

109



g

110

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F -~ —4#F 1+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Financial Instruments (Continued)

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a
creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part
as a result of renegotiating the terms of that liability,
the equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognised initially and measured at their
fair value on the date the financial liability or part
thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the
equity instruments are measured to reflect the fair value
of the financial liability extinguished. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability or
part thereof extinguished and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(h) Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks and other financial institutions, and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less.

Glory Sun Land Group Limited  Annual Report 2022

4, FESTTHE @)
(9) €@MIA )

(h)

(vii) I TEE

ERNERMEEZARKRER
ENANENERE &
BMEECEREZEBRNTS
BEVBRELF IR K
IERERR RN - ARBEKIE
ERZATREE -

EHBAANTRIRACETE
FRER - AEHEBIAE - 8K
IHEREHALE -

WHREFENESRAES
3R REB M EEAZT
HAGBRATANUTN2E
ZMHrzeMmBE A
AZBRATAERENRENL
Rema Bk o wEE
He AR TFENSER
P2 REBITRATIAZ
NEETEATEF=E - AR
AT B 5= AR ETE 85
TRBEIRTE- FEH
TRAGENHEIS ZREE
HENREBZEZENFANE
HAPRER o

REeERBAEEEY

MReHERERY  BHEe MR
SEVERFTHEAS - BEREARER
ZIRITREM S BEBTTIALR
AR =EAIA T 2 E A EH]
SRERE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022 #t2 —F — —F 1+ - H=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i) Non-current assets held for sale and disposal

groups

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale when:

(i) They are available for immediate sale
(i) Management is committed to a plan to sell

(iii) It is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be
made or that the plan will be withdrawn

(iv)  An active programme to locate a buyer has been
initiated

(v)  The asset or disposal group is being marketed at a
reasonable price in relation to its fair value, and

(vi) A sale is expected to complete within 12 months from
the date of classification.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of:

(i) Their carrying amount immediately prior to being
classified as held for sale in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy; and

(i) Fair value less costs of disposal.
Following their classification as held for sale, non-current

assets (including those in a disposal group) are not
depreciated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F -~ —4#F 1+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Non-current assets held for sale and disposal
groups (Continued)

The results of operations disposed during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income up to the date of disposal.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group
(i.e. the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group) that either has
been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and which
represents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is part of a single coordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with
a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon
disposal or when the component meets the criteria to be
classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5, if
earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, which comprises the post-tax
profit or loss of the discontinued operation; and post-tax gain
or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs
to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group
constituting the discontinued operation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 17 S 5 A Wi

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()

Properties under development and properties
held for sale

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Development costs include
acquisition costs, construction costs, borrowing costs
capitalised and other direct costs attributable to such
properties during the construction period. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

On completion, the properties are reclassified to properties
held for sale at the carrying amount.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
when the construction of the relevant properties commences
unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond normal
operating cycle.

Properties held for sale

Completed properties remaining unsold at the end of each
relevant year are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost comprises development costs attributable to the unsold
properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated cost necessary to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
G A R MR

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

o does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods
or service.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.

Glory Sun Land Group Limited  Annual Report 2022

4, FESTTEHE (&)
(k) =XEER

BEPAHMEXENERARBNE
HIREBEEEFPRER  H2BR
RAKERARRBZEERIR
BmARKI 2 RE(TRERE
FZTWBHBRATE) X8
TEEREVKEMHEER - B
RIBEAI B S I

5 on Sk AR A O P R A — ER S ]
NERFK—RHER - HURREH
MRS ELE RN A WRDEERTE -
& kIR R I R — R
WNER - HAKREREABET

—

1R ULE P FRS B BB FE M
FiA Rl

o EAYER-IAEBEE M
BERNAKEBORBEP
ek I

o AEEAFGELEFAUER
RengE AAKERRE
RFESE TR ELDED
2 UCENRRIR ©

115 A S AR TS B 42 Il R A — ER S ]
NEE - 2RAERESHBRECD T
FXB K ZE T B R 1T & R e
R BR EXBEREFESER
Sl ARG I B O X S B R,

HWENESREXD  RRATEFE
BERIRBLSEFPIRHEEARE
Ml —F - QAZEBNE 0
Wiz FENREE - AEA
AEBEZFPENEBREX ST
[REREVREIR BRI o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 17 S 5 A Wi

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue
recognised under that contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method.

For contracts where the period between the payment and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient
in HKFRS 15.

(i)

Sales of properties

The Group develops and sells commercial and residential
properties in the PRC. Revenue is recognised when
control over the property has been transferred to the
customer. The properties have generally no alternative
use for the group due to contractual restrictions.
However, an enforceable right to payment does not
arise until legal title has passed to the customer.
Therefore, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the legal title has passed to the customer.

The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed
under the contract. In most cases, the consideration
is due when legal title has been transferred. While
deferred payment terms may be agreed in rare
circumstances, the deferral never exceeds twelve
months. The transaction price is therefore not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F -~ —4#F 1+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Revenue from construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised
when or as the construction projects are transferred to
the customer. Depending on the terms of the contracts
and the laws that are applicable to the contracts,
control of the construction projects may transfer over
time or at a point in time. If the Group creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced, and therefore, recognises
revenue over time in accordance with the input method
for measuring progress.

Trading of commodities

Revenue from the sale of commodities is recognised
when control of the commodities have transferred,
being when the commodities have been shipped to
the customer's specific location (delivery). The Group is
primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide
the specified good or service, has inventory risk before
the specified good or service has been transferred to a
customer and has discretion in establishing the price for
the specified good or service. A receivable is recognised
by the Group when the commodities are delivered to
the customer as this represents the point in time at
which the right to consideration becomes unconditional,
as only the passage of time is required before payment
is due.

Trading of home appliances and building
materials

Revenue from home appliances and building materials is
recognised point in time as those services are rendered.
Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 17 S 5 A Wi

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Revenue recognition (Continued)
(vi) Dividend income

Dividend income from financial assets at FVTOCI is
recognised in profit or loss when the shareholder’s right
to receive payment is established.

(vii) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method. Interest income
is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost
or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the
effective interest rate is applied to the gross carrying
amount of the asset. For credit impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) of
the asset.

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. In contrast, a
receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

4, FESTTHE (&)
(k) ZEERI (2
(vi) BREWKA

BAVEEBEMEE RS
IR e MEEZREWA
TA PSSR ER A 3R 2 4 ) e 52
R R AP RERR

(vii) FIE WA

B AR E RN E AR
By R L DI E TR - A B UL
ARERERFEE R
R LIRBBERALIRA
FEEBHEAM2E R ET R
(3B EZEEERE
MEMEEMS  BEREME
AREEMNBIREE- S5
EREZREEMS F BER
R AR & B HY# SHACAS (BT
R RBENEREE)

EHNEERERE

BHEERAKRENRARECHE
PR IR 15 M A P YRR (B
FORER (il R A BB AGRAT) - R
P R TR 4 AN R B W B (B O S 5
iR - BIRE R HR RAHEF
RS o

BHAEEAKRERERE P YK

RE(HEHHRESE) - MAR
BEFERERENEML -

BNEMREEARAT 2022FF

117

P



g

118

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contract assets and liabilities (Continued)

Contract asset is recognised when (i) the Group completes
the construction works under such services contracts but
yet certified by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by customers, or (i) the customers retain retention
money to secure the due performance of the contracts. Any
amount previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified
to trade receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the
customer. If the considerations (including advances received
from customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to date then
the Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.
Contract assets are assessed for impairment on the same basis
as trade receivables under note 4(g)(ii).

Contract costs

The Group recognises an asset from the costs incurred to fulfil
a contract when those costs meet all of the following criteria:

(@)  the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the cost
relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 17 S 5 A Wi

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred
tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount
expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty
related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts
used for tax purposes. Except for goodwill not deductible for
tax purposes and initial recognition of assets and liabilities
that are not part of the business combination which affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised, provided that the deductible temporary
differences are not arises from initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction other than in a business combination
that affects neither taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to the
expected manner in which the carrying amount of the asset
or liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period, and
reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
G A R MR

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

)

Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income tax
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the assets to be recovered.

An exception to the general requirement in determining
the appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax
amount is when an investment property is carried at fair
value under HKAS 40 “Investment Property”. Unless the
presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on these
investment properties are measured using the tax rates that
would apply on sale of these investment properties at their
carrying amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
property over time, rather than through sale.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or when they relate to items
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are also
recognised directly in equity.
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4, FESTTHE (&)
(m) Spi

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by the group entities in currencies
other than the functional currency are recorded at the
rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling
at the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, in
which case, the exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling
when the transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling
at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’
separate financial statements on the translation of long-term
monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve.
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o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F -~ —4#F 1+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Foreign currency (Continued)

(n)

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the foreign exchange reserve relating
to that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to
profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in the foreign exchange reserve.

Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected to
be settled wholly before twelve months after the end
of the annual reporting period in which the employees
render the related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees render
the related service.

(iij) Defined contribution retirement plan

Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when the
services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and others
providing similar services, the fair value of the services received
is measured by reference to the fair value of the options at
the date of grant. Such fair value is recognised in profit or
loss over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in
the share option reserve within equity. Non-market vesting
conditions are taken into account by adjusting the number
of equity instruments expected to vest at the end of each
reporting period so that, ultimately, the cumulative amount
recognised over the vesting period is based on the number
of options that eventually vest. Market vesting conditions are
factored into the fair value of the options granted. As long
as all non-market vesting conditions are satisfied, a charge is
made irrespective of whether the market vesting conditions
are satisfied. The cumulative expense is not adjusted for
failure to achieve a market vesting condition.

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified
before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the options,
measured immediately before and after the modification, is
also recognised in profit or loss over the remaining vesting
period.

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of assets (other than financial assets) to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.
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4,

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

(a)

(r)

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under
another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or cash generating unit
(see note 4(c)), discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or
cash generating unit.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which
require a substantial period of time to be ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. Income earned on temporary investments of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on those
assets is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, which it is probable will
result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably
estimated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)

(s)

(®)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets (including
property, plant and equipment) are recognised as deferred
income in the statement of financial position and transferred
to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the
useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable and are recognised as
other revenue, rather than reducing the related expense.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the executive directors of the Company that make strategic
decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —F = —#F+ - H=+—HIFFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Related parties

(a

(b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

(i

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao By WA 5 A W

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(u) Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 &% —F — —#+ - H=+—HIFZ
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors
are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(i) Deferred tax for investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining
the Group’s deferred taxation on investment properties,
the directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption of investment properties measured using the fair
value model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
As a result, the Group has recognised deferred taxation on
changes in fair value of investment properties as the Group is
subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 17 S 5 A Wi

For the year ended 31 December 2022 2 —F =~ —4#F+ - H=+—HIFFZF

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(ii) Principal versus agent consideration

Significant judgments include determining whether the Group
is acting as the principal in a transaction. When another
party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer,
the Group determines whether the nature of its promise
is a performance obligation to provide the specified goods
or services itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange
for those goods or services to be provided by the other
party (i.e. the Group is an agent). The Group is a principal
in a transaction if the Group obtains control of the specific
goods or services before they are transferred to customers.
The control is the (i) ability, (ii) direct the use of, and (iii)
obtain the benefits from the specific goods or services. The
Group follows the accounting guidance for principal-agent
considerations to assess whether the Group controls the
specified goods or services before they are transferred to the
customers, the indicators of which including but not limited to
(a) whether the entity is primarily responsible for fulfilling the
promise to provide the specific goods or services; (b) whether
the entity bear the inventory risk before and after the specific
goods or services are being delivered to the customers; and
(c) whether the entity has the sole discretion in establishing
the selling prices for the specific goods or service. When the
Group acts as a principal, it records revenues on a gross basis.
Otherwise, the Group records the net amount earned as
commissions from products sold or services provided.

The Group has obtained the control of the commodities prior
to the delivery to the customers, therefore, the directors
of the Company considered the revenue for the trading of
commodities is acting as the principal and the revenue is
recognised for on the gross basis.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

(iii) Going concern assumption

As mentioned in note 2(c), the directors of the Company
have prepared the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 based on a going concern
basis. The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making judgement by the directors of the Company
at a particular point of time, about the future outcome of
events or conditions which are uncertain. The directors of the
Company has prepared the Cash Flow Forecast and concluded
that the Group would have sufficient financial resources
to finance the Group's operations and meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due to maintain the Group
as a going concern in the year ending 31 December 2023.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group have the capability to continue as a going c